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THE POWER OF THE FUTURE

Eastern martial arts, such as Aikido, offer a 
broad range of difficult teachings 
both on the skills of energy management, 
which is the main task of energy companies, 
and of business management.
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I. 
INTRODUCTION

Just as uninformed people who judge the performance 

of a company based only on its financial statements 

or headquarters, many understand Aikido only as 

the poetry of movement. However, numbers in 

business and the soft moves in Aikido are the result 

of processes which are surprisingly similar.

The poetry of power
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1 KEY PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS OF INTERENERGO AND ITS GROUP

Key figures of Interenergo d.o.o. for the fiscal year 2014 compared to 2013

Interenergo d.o.o. 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 Index 2014/2013

Assets (in EUR) 53,862,122 45,547,695 18%

Equity (in EUR) 17,802,620 15,371,581 16%

Net operating income (in EUR) 152,483,902 167,439,066 -9%

EBIT (in EUR) 375,347 409,237 -8%

EBITDA (in EUR) 608,888 601,897 1%

Loss for the period (in EUR) -5,068,961 -2,202,476 130%

Trading volume in electricity 4.3 TWh 4.9 TWh -12%

Own electricity produced 1.9 GWh 1.9 GWh 0%

EBITDA represents the Company’s operating result before finance income and finance costs, 
taxes, amortisation and depreciation expense relating to property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, and revaluation expenses for current receivables. 

EBIT represents the Company’s operating result exclusive of income and expenses from 
financing activities. The item of finance costs includes interest on borrowings raised, 
revaluation expenses for financial assets; finance income includes interest on loans granted 
and income on dividend pay-outs.

Key figures of Interenergo Group for the fiscal year 2014 compared to 2013

Interenergo Group 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 Index 2014/2013

Assets (in EUR) 57,165,209 47,532,361 20%

Equity (in EUR) 17,041,640 15,273,793 12%

Net operating income (in EUR) 166,854,308 165,267,210 1%

EBIT (in EUR) -5,561,955 170,081 -3370%

EBITDA (in EUR) 2,215,280 1,842,818 20%

Loss for the period (in EUR) -5,608,569 -705,924 695%

Trading volume in electricity 3.8 TWh 3.8 TWh 0%

Own electricity produced 38 GWh 29.5 GWh 29%

EBITDA is the Group’s operating result before finance income and finance costs, taxes, 
amortisation and depreciation expense relating to property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, and revaluation expenses for current receivables or property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. 

EBIT represents the Group’s operating result exclusive of income and expenses from financing 
activities. The major decline in the Group’s operating result in 2014 is primarily attributable 
to changes in the energy markets that forced us to impair the values of investments made.

 Assets

 Equity

Diagram I.1: Key figures of 
Interenergo d.o.o. and its 
Group for 2014 compared 
to 2013
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2 LETTER FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTORS 

The parent company Interenergo and the whole Interenergo Group were successful in 2014, 
both with regard to electricity trading and electricity production from renewable sources. 
Key performance indicators also point to successful current operations of the Group, as its 
EBITDA increased by 20%. Assets, capital and net sales revenue also increased. The significant 
drop in earnings in 2014 is mainly explained by the development in energy markets which 
forced us to impair our investments. 

Trading volume achieved by the Group was 3.8 terawatt hours, while revenue from trading 
was EUR 162 million. With regard to trading, we were particularly successful in Montenegro 
and Macedonia. We entered the Romanian power exchange OPCOM and traded in a total of 
five European power exchanges. The successful entry in new markets and the consolidation 
of our trading department in 2013 were the main drivers of our successful trading in energy 
in 2014.
 
Our portfolio of production facilities was expanded with five new solar power plants in 
Slovenia. All 14 production facilities together generated 38 gigawatt hours of electricity, while 
revenue from production was EUR 2.6 million. In 2014, we were constructing two hydropower 
plants in the Republika Srpska. The small hydropower plant in Zapeće will expand the Group’s 
production portfolio already in 2015. Hydrological conditions in 2014 were difficult in Bosnia 
and Herzegovina due to the uneven precipitation distribution and severe floods in May 2014 
which, however, did not affect our facilities. 
 
Our 37 employees generated EUR 167 million in revenues. By training our key employees and 
by expanding professional competencies of all employees, we ensured further development 
of the Group based on knowledge and skills for effective and proactive work. As far as our 
possibilities permitted, we helped cultural organisations and business associations which, in the 
environment where the Interenergo Group is present, co-create cultural and business trends.

Anton Papež, 
Managing Director, Interenergo d.o.o.

Christian Schwarz, 
Managing Director, Interenergo d.o.o.
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3 INTERENERGO AND ITS GROUP

Interenergo, energetski inženiring, d.o.o. (hereinafter also ‘Company’) is an international 
company engaged in electricity trading and investments in facilities for producing electricity 
from renewable sources.
 

3.1 Company profile

Company name: INTERENERGO, energetski inženiring, d.o.o.
Abbreviated company name: INTERENERGO d.o.o.
Company name in English: INTERENERGO, energy engineering, Ltd.
Abbreviated company name in English: INTERENERGO Ltd.
Registered office: Tivolska cesta 48, 1000 Ljubljana
Telephone: +386 (0)1 620 37 00
Website: www.interenergo.si
E-mail: info@interenergo.si

Establishment: 25 July 2006
Core business activity: 35.111 –  Production of electricity in hydropower plants
Ownership: KI-KELAG INTERNATIONAL, GmbH, 100% 
Share capital: EUR 10,200,000 
Tax number: 99144590
Company ID number: 2226405

3.2 Bodies of the Company

Interenergo d.o.o. is managed by two managing directors and three procurators, who steer 
and direct business operations and development of the parent company and the entire In-
terenergo Group. The Company’s operations are supervised and monitored by a 3-member 
Supervisory Board.

Management Board:
Managing Director: Anton Papež
Managing Director: Christian Schwarz
Procurator: Blaž Šterk 
Procurator: Wolfgang Lyssy
Procurator: Ingo Preiss

Supervisory Board:
Chairman: Armin Wiersma
Deputy Chairman: Hermann Egger
Member: Gerald Berger

3.3 Interenergo Group

The Interenergo Group consists of the controlling company Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana 
and 11 subsidiaries in countries of South-Eastern Europe. Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana has 
two business units: Interenergo d.o.o., business unit Banja Luka, Bosna in Hercegovina, and 
Interenergo d.o.o., business unit Bucharest, Romania. EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka has the business 
unit EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka – Bussiness Unit Mala hidroelektrarna Novakovići, Banja Luka, 
Bosnia and Herzegovina.

Interenergo d.o.o. is the sole owner (100%) of following companies:
> Interenergo d.o.o. Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina; 
> Interenergo d.o.o. Zagreb, Croatia;
> Interenergo Macedonia d.o.o.e.l Skopje, Macedonia;
> PLC Interenergo d.o.o. Beograd, Serbia;
> EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina;
> IEP energija d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje, Bosnia and Herzegovina;
> LSB Elektrane d.o.o. Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina;
> Interhem d.o.o. Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina (in liquidation);
> Inter – Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje, Bosnia and Herzegovina.

Companies partly owned by Interenergo d.o.o.:
> Interenergo electric d.o.o., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina (27%);
> Hidrowatt d.o.o. Beograd (80%) via PLC Interenergo d.o.o. Beograd;
> MHE Vrbnica d.o.o., Montenegro (70%). 

Chart I.1: Interenergo 
Gro up for the year ended 
31 December 2014SI
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3.4 Milestones of Interenergo and its Group

Interenergo d.o.o., Ljubljana, Slovenia, started its operations in 2007. Of key importance 
for its long-term development was its 100% acquisition by KI-Kelag International GmbH in 
2009. In the same year, we started construction of a small hydropower plant Poštica, which 
later became the first private foreign-owned hydropower plant in Serbia. In 2012, the small 
run-of-river hydropower plant Novakovići, which ranks among the most technologically 
sophisticated facilities of this kind in South-Eastern Europe, started production.

In these eight years, the parent company built a group of eleven subsidiaries, as well as a 
portfolio of fourteen small hydropower and solar plants, and became member of five power 
exchanges. The volume of trading in twelve countries of Central and South-Eastern Europe 
reached 3.8 terawatt hours in 2014.

When designing, constructing and managing energy facilities, Group companies always 
try to reduce any harmful environmental impacts and encourage local development. We 
invest in the construction and modernisation of power plants for producing electricity out 
of renewable sources such as water, sun and wind. While building new or modernising the 
existing facilities, we use advanced technologies that are in compliance with the highest 
standards of production and safety efficiency. 

3.5 Activities of Interenergo and its Group 

Core activities of Interenergo and other companies within the Group are electricity trading 
and production using renewable resources, as well as investing in new facilities that are 
engaged in producing electricity from renewable sources.

We trade in electricity on wholesale markets. To ensure our success in electricity trading, we 
have set up an efficient network of licensed companies, members of the Interenergo Group. 
Through its market activities, the Group contributes to a reliable and competitive electricity 
supply on its target markets. We grew the volume of trading in electricity in the past four 
years from 1.5 to 3.8 terawatt hours on the Group level.

Chart I.2: Activities of 
Interenergo and its Group

TRADING

PRODUCTIONINVESTMENTS

Operations in South-East and Central Europe
The primary countries for investments are currently Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, 
Croatia, Slovenia and Serbia. With regard to electricity trading, the target region is wider 
and comprises, in addition to the above countries, also Austria, Italy, Hungary, Germany, 
Macedonia, Kosovo, Romania, and several neighbouring countries where Interenergo trades 
on the border.

With the aim of setting up an electricity trading infrastructure and gaining new investment 
projects, Interenergo is in all primary markets establishing subsidiaries that are generally 
100%-owned. For investments in energy facilities, the Company has been establishing or 
acquiring shares of project companies.

2014 
Start of construction 
of Medna small HPP in 
Republika Srpska (RS) 
Expanding the solar PP 
portfolio in Slovenia with 
five new facilities 
Joining the Romanian 
power exchange 
(OPCOM) 
Establishment of small 
MHE Vrbnica d.o.o. (MNE)

2012 
Opening of Novakovići 
small HPP in Republika 
Srpska (RS) 
Set-up of the Martex and 
Mura solar PPs (SLO) 
Joining of two new 
subsidiaries 
Joining the Hungarian 
power exchange (HUPX)

2010 
Start of production in 
Poštica small HPP 
Expansion of small HPP 
network (BIH)
Trading volume exceeds 
1 TWh

2008 
Expansion of subsidiary 
network (SRB, BIH) 
Joining the biggest Eu-
ropean Energy Exchange 
(EPEX)

2007 
Start of operations 
Establishment of a 
subsidiary network (SRB, 
BIH, MKD)

2009 
Start of construction of 
the Poštica small HPP 
Joining the Austrian 
Kelag Group

2011 
Expansion of small HPP 
network (BIH) 
Transfer of four small HPP 
concessions in Republika 
Srpska
Trading volume exceeds 
3.5 TWh

2013 
Preparations for 
construction of Zapeće 
small HPP 
(Republika Srpska)
Membership of the Italian 
power exchange (GME)
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3.6 Business policy of Interenergo and its Group 

Interenergo is an international company established in Ljubljana, and is the parent company 
of the Interenergo Group. The Group is present in energy markets of Central and South-
Eastern Europe. The primary business objective and core responsibility of the Group is safe 
and efficient supply of electricity, and implementation of investment projects that promote 
economically, environmentally and socially responsible exploitation of renewable energy 
sources.

Vision
In the next five years, the Interenergo Group will become the largest foreign private investor 
in electricity generation from renewable energy sources in the area of the former Yugoslavia, 
in the segment of small and medium-sized power plants. The Group will have at its disposal 
120 gigawatt hours of electricity from its own production, and will achieve a trading volume 
of 4.5 terawatt hours in international markets. The Group will provide consulting services in 
the area of energy efficiency and engineering of electricity production facilities. The balance 
among risks and rewards shall ensure continuous growth and enhance company’s value.

Mission
We will ensure safe and efficient supply of electricity produced from renewable energy 
sources in Central and South-Eastern Europe.
We will increase use of renewable energy sources in South-Eastern Europe.

Values
> Reliable, safe and environmentally-friendly electricity production.
> Transparent and efficient operations.
> Environmental awareness.
> Professionalism and innovation.
> Loyalty and team work.
> Flexibility.
> Long-term partnerships.

Strategic objectives
> Expansion of our trading network in the energy markets of Central and South-Eastern 

Europe.
> Investing in the construction and modernisation of production facilities using renewable 

sources.
> Strengthening of our competitive advantages in wholesale trading.
> Effective management of the existing facilities with the aim of ensuring their long-term, 

safe and business-efficient operations.
> Expansion of our portfolio of production facilities using renewable energy sources.
> Vertical integration – from production to the end consumer.

4 KELAG GROUP

The Interenergo Group belongs to the Kelag Group which is considered one of the leading 
providers of energy services in Austria. Subsidiary companies, members of the Kelag Group, 
are active in the areas of electricity, district heating and natural gas. The parent company 
Kelag, in business since 1923, has vast experience in electricity production, procurement, 
distribution and sale. Both Kelag and its subsidiaries pursue the strategic goals of growth 
and innovation based on renewable sources. The Kelag Group respects the environmental 
goals of the European Union. 

Drawing on its comprehensive know-how, Kelag strengthened its investments in electricity 
production from hydro and wind sources, as well as in district heating, biomass energy and 
other renewable sources, including heat generation from recycled industrial waste. In 2013, 
the Kelag Group employed 1,422 highly-qualified persons who generated a revenue of EUR 
1,495 million.

Being a member of the Kelag Group, Interenergo has access to Kelag’s knowledge base and 
innovations, which guarantees its success and consolidates its reputation both in Slovenia 
and in other target markets.

Chart I.3: Interenergo’s 
position within the Kelag 
Group

100 %

100 %

KELAG
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KI-KELAG INTERNATIONAL GMBH

INTERENERGO D.O.O.
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5 ANNUAL REPORT COMPLIANCE WITH THE GRI G4 GUIDELINES

With its 2014 annual report, Interenergo for the first time follows the globally accepted 
G4 Sustainability Reporting Guidelines issued by the Global Reporting Initiative (www.
globalreporting.org). We want to provide clear and transparent information on our operations, 
results and plans, and want them to be internationally comparable. The 2014 annual report 
is therefore the first step of both Interenergo and its Group towards sustainability reporting. 
In the future, we will become increasingly compliant with said Guidelines.

If you have any questions, suggestion or comments concerning the contents of this annual 
report, please write to info@interenergo.si. 

Compliance of the annual report with the GRI G4 indicators 

GENERAL STANDARD DISCLOSURES

Indicator Disclosure Section

STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS  

G4-1 A statement from the most senior decision-maker of the organisation about the  I.2
 relevance of sustainability to the organisation and the organization’s strategy for 
 addressing sustainability. 

ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE  

G4-3 The name of the organisation. I.3

G4-4 The primary brands, products and services. I.3

G4-5 The location of the organisation's headquarters. I.3

G4-6 The number of countries where the organisation operates, and names of  I.3
 countries where either the organisation has significant operations or that are  II.2.1
 specifically relevant to the sustainability topics covered in the report. II.2.2 

G4-7 The nature of ownership and legal form. I.3

G4-8 The markets served (including geographic breakdown, sectors served, and types of  I.3
 customers and beneficiaries). II.2.1 

G4-9 The scale of the organisation (total number of employees, total  I.1
 number of operations, net sales, debt and equity, quantity of products  I.3
 or services provided). II.3.4 

G4-13 Any significant changes during the reporting period regarding the  I.3
 organisation’s size, structure, ownership or its supply chain. 

G4-14 Whether and how the precautionary approach or principle is addressed  II.4
 by the organisation.  II.7

G4-15 Externally developed economic, environmental and social charters, principles,  III.2.2.1
 or other initiatives to which the organisation subscribes or which it endorses. 

IDENTIFIED MATERIAL ASPECTS AND BOUNDARIES  

G4-17 List all entities included in the organisation’s consolidated financial statements. III.2.3.1

G4-18 Explain the process for defining the report content and the Aspect Boundaries. I.5

G4-19 List all the material Aspects identified in the process for defining report content. I.3

REPORT PROFILE  

G4-28 Reporting period. I.5

G4-31 The contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents. I.5

G4-32 The ‘in accordance’ option the organisation has chosen. I.5

GOVERNANCE  

G4-34 The governance structure of the organisation, including committees of  I.3
 the highest governance body. 

INTEGRITY  

G4-56 Describe the organisation’s values, principles, standards and norms of behaviour I.3 
 such as codes of conduct and codes of ethics. 

GENERAL STANDARD DISCLOSURES FOR THE ELECTRIC UTILITY SECTOR  

ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE  

EU1 Installed capacity, broken down by primary energy source  II.2.2

EU2 Net energy output, broken down by primary energy source II.2.2
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II. 
MANAGEMENT REPORT

Untamed power is destructive. Power which is a 

reflection of wisdom is useful. The technological 

wisdom of siting as well as calculations which ensure 

a positive relationship between energy (assets) 

invested and usable energy (profit) obtained ensure 

maintenance and sustainability of a system.

Untamed power
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1 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT AND ITS IMPACTS ON INTERENERGO 
 AND ITS GROUP IN 2014

In order to be successful in electricity trading, it is important that the Group swiftly adapts 
to the situation in energy markets. Investment projects are carried out primarily in countries 
of the former Yugoslavia, which are characterised by a prolonged recession, low investment 
level and slow development. In 2014, the Group operated successfully in the demanding 
economic situation in the countries of the former Yugoslavia, which is reflected and proved 
by investments made in hydropower plants, the investments in progress and the investment 
plans for future years. In the segment of electricity trading, the Group swiftly adjusted to the 
changed or, better, rapidly changing circumstances in the energy markets. We remained 
focused on short-term trading and have continued creating high value added by means of 
establishing an analysis department and upgrading the risk management processes.

Economic environment in Slovenia and South-East Europe in 2014
Key macroeconomic indicators for 2014 point to positive economic developments in Slovenia. 
Slovenia’s economic growth rate of 2.6% was the highest since 2008. It placed Slovenia 
among fastest-growing EU Member States, as the average growth rate of euro area countries 
was 0.9%. Slovenia’s GDP grew the most in private sector services, industry and construction. 
The key driver of Slovenia’s economy in 2014 were increased exports of goods to EU Member 
States.

According to IMAD, domestic consumption – for the first time after the onset of the crisis – 
increased, which can be mainly attributed to the successful absorption of EU funds for public 
infrastructure investments. Private consumption also increased slightly due to positive trends 
in the labour market.

Positive economic growth also contributed to a decrease in unemployment, mainly on the 
account of increased employment in the services sector. Unemployment stood at 13% at 
year-end 2014. There were 119 thousand unemployed, down 4% from 2013. In addition to 
the relatively high unemployment rate, Slovenia’s labour market is also facing the problem of 
temporary employment of young people, which affects their purchasing power and above 
all creditworthiness. 

Annual inflation rate and average inflation rate was 0.2% according to the Slovenia’s Statistical 
Office. On average, service prices increased by 2.8%, while product prices decreased by 1.0%. 
Annual inflation rate in EU Member States was 0.4%. 

Economic recovery in the narrower external environment remains weak according to the 
Bank of Slovenia. Despite the drop in oil prices and the consequent weakening of the Russian 
economy the outlook for 2015 remains slightly better than the estimates for 2014. If Slovenia’s 
export sector increases further its competitiveness, we can expect economic growth also 
in 2015.

Economic growth in euro area was relatively weak also in the second half of 2014 according 
to the Bank of Slovenia. At year-end 2014, the euro fell (against the US dollar), while the price 
of Brent crude oil fell to its lowest level since 2009. 

Economic conditions in the countries of the former Yugoslavia remained difficult in 2014. 
Despite the positive economic growth in all of them except Serbia, they are coping with high 
unemployment rates, inflation, indebtedness and low competitiveness. 

Data source on economy in 2014: Bank of Slovenia (Economic and financial development, 
January 2015), Institute of Macroeconomic Analysis and Development (UMAR), Statistical 
Office of the Republic of Slovenia (SURS), European Commission (Quarterly Report of the 
Economic Situation in Candidate Countries).

Economic indicators in target markets
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2 PERFORMANCE OF INTERENERGO AND ITS GROUP IN 2014

Interenergo and its Group were successful in 2014. EBITDA margin was 1.3% at Group level, 
up 0.2 percentage points from 2013. The increase is mainly attributable to the increased 
volume of electricity produced from renewable sources and successful trading operations. 
EBITDA margin was 0.4% at parent company level, the same as in 2013.

Developments in energy markets required impairment of certain investments. At Group 
level, these were investments in hydropower plants, while at parent company level these 
were investments in subsidiaries.

The amount of assets of both Interenergo and its Group is above all dependent on the 
amount of electricity trading-related payables and receivables. As at year-end, payables 
to suppliers and receivables from customers relate to electricity purchased and sold in 
December. The amount of assets of both Interenergo and its Group as at year-end 2014 was 
higher than a year ago. 

2.1 Trading activities

Interenergo and its Group were successful in the area of energy trading in 2014. In volume 
terms, electricity sold by the Group amounted to 3.8 terawatt hours, while electricity sold 
by the parent company amounted to 4.3 terawatt hours. In revenue terms, electricity sold 
by the Group amounted to EUR 162 million, while electricity sold by the parent company 
amounted to EUR 151 million. Trading in 2014 was profitable and it also increased compared 
to 2013, which is mainly explained by the entry in new markets and consolidation of the 
trading department. 

All in all, we traded in the energy markets of the following countries in 2014: Slovenia, Austria, 
Italy, Germany, Macedonia, Serbia, Montenegro, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Hungary, 
Romania and Kosovo. We were mainly focused on short-term daily, weekly and monthly 
trading. Annual contracts concluded were similar in volume terms to those concluded a year 
ago. We continued trading actively in the bilateral (OTC) market in 2014, and also became 
members of the Romanian power exchange (OPCOM).

Chart II.1: Presence in 
international markets and 
power exchanges

2.2 Development in the field of investment activities and electricity production

Investment activities in 2014 were in accordance with our vision to establish a stable portfolio 
of electricity generating facilities to ensure a stable flow of revenue in the long term. We 
started construction of a small run-of-river hydropower plant Medna on the river Sana in the 
Republika Srpska. We continued construction of a small run-of-river hydropower plant Zapeće 
on the river Ugar in the Republika Srpska. This will start generating electricity in mid-2015. In 
the next couple of years we plan to invest in solar power plants in Slovenia with an installed 
capacity of 0,5 to 1,0 MW. At the same time, in accordance with our strategic objectives, we 
continue developing hydro and wind projects in Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Serbia 
and Montenegro.

We added five new power plants in 2014 to our Slovenian portfolio of solar power plants. Our 
small hydropower plants have a total installed capacity of 9.56 megawatts, while our solar 
power plants have a total installed capacity of 2.33 megawatts. With their combined installed 
capacity of 11.89 megawatts, our hydropower plants and solar power plants generated 
38 gigawatt hours of electricity which brought revenues of EUR 2.6 million. Hydrological 
conditions in 2014 were difficult in Bosnia and Herzegovina due to the uneven precipitation 
distribution and severe floods in May 2014. These did not hit our facilities and after waters 
receded, they continued with their operations. This shows how thoughtfully we sited 
our facilities, as well that we constructed them in accordance with the highest European 
standards. 

Interenergo Group has in its portfolio fourteen operating production facilities located in three 
countries, namely six small hydropower plants in Bosnia and Herzegovina, one in Serbia, and 
seven solar power plants in Slovenia. Investment-related projects are always implemented 
with the consent of the local community concerned, as well as in accordance with the latest 
construction and environmental standards. We thus create technical, environmental and 
administrative conditions required for electricity production from renewable energy sources 
which is stable in the long run.

EPEX Spot – German power exchange

HUPX – Hungarian power exchange

OPCOM – Romanian power exchange

BSP Southpool – Regional power exchange 

GME – Italian power exchange
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Chart II.3: Power plants in 
Slovenia, Serbia and Bosnia 
and Herzegovina SI
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3 SUSTAINABLE POLICY OF INTERENERGO AND ITS GROUP

Our sustainable development in 2014 was based on our balanced activities in economic, 
social and environmental areas. The strategic pillar of the Interenergo Group’s sustainable 
development are the following:
> business excellence,
> environmental responsibility and 
> corporate social responsibility.

Chart II.4: Pillars of achieving 
sustainable development

The fundamental responsibility of the Interenergo Group is the reliable generation and supply 
of electricity, which in turn guarantees our effectiveness and development. When constructing 
new or modernising the existing energy facilities, we comply with the standards that promote 
environmentally-friendly and technologically-advanced construction. We involve local people 
in all our investment projects. We work together with the local communities to identify 
opportunities for their development brought about by our investment projects. We support 
cultural and educational organisations and projects that enrich the society and contribute 
to development. 

Interenergo is aware that socially-responsible actions set the foundations for long-term 
success. That is why our corporate policy includes fair and ethical operations, responsible 
attitude to the environment and care for the wider social environment.

Successful business operations and development are founded on competent staff, hence 
we invest in our employees and strive for an open communication.

3.1 Business excellence

Business excellence is based on the Company’s strategic orientation towards provision of 
reliable electricity supply and production from renewable energy sources (water, sun, wind) 
that are becoming an increasingly important segment of the energy industry.

All Interenergo Group companies act in a transparent and fair manner following the highest 
ethical standards. Management of the parent company and employees pursue a well-though-
out and sustainable corporate strategy that is based on balanced objectives and secures 
long-term success of the Company. Development of the Group is based on investments 
in renewable energy sources that in 2014 totalled EUR 8.6 million, and on its ever stronger 
position in international electricity trading, where the turnover in 2014 amounted to EUR 
162 million.

Group companies do not borrow from financial institutions to finance development plans 
and investments; instead, all funds are obtained in the form of equity or loans from the owner. 
The financial position of the parent company and the whole Group is therefore very good. 
Our profitability is not yet at the level of the most successful energy groups, as we are still in 
the early phase of development of our business potential. Since the Kelag company as sole 
owner has an A (stable) rating according to S&P, the Group companies can pursue ambitious 
business strategies even in the current tight economic situation.

Thus, the Interenergo Group implements the responsibility towards its shareholders by means 
of successful business operations.

Chart II.5: The design of the 
turbine and a generator on 
one of our hydropower 
plants

Business excellence

Corporate social
 responsibility

Environmental  
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know-how
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3.2 Environmental responsibility

Environmental responsibility of Interenergo Group is directly connected with our main activity, 
i.e. electricity production using renewable energy sources (water, sun, wind). Electricity 
production from renewable energy sources is without carbon dioxide emissions, which are 
the main factor causing climate changes. New facilities for the production of electricity from 
renewable sources are constructed in accordance with the environmental and technical 
standards of the Kelag Group, which are internationally deemed as reference standards in the 
hydro energy industry. In the siting of energy facilities, the Interenergo Group complies with 
applicable local and European legislative frameworks. All newly constructed and modernised 
facilities are technologically advanced, made of environment-friendly materials and compliant 
with the highest safety standards. This ensures their minimum environmental impact. By 
investing in electricity production facilities, the Interenergo Group helps the countries, where 
present, to increase their share of electricity produced from renewable energy sources. 

3.3 Corporate social responsibility

We at Interenergo and Interenergo Group are aware that a socially responsible entity must 
also invest in the local community where it operates. For this reason, we support organisations 
and outstanding individuals from arts, science and sports. We also support organisation of 
energy-related conferences wherever we are present with our facilities.

In 2014, we have supported the organisation of following professional and cultural events: 
Festival Ljubljana, ‘Days of energy experts’ conference, manager concert and the rotary dance 
ball. We made donations to the Rotary Club Ljubljana and the Paediatric Clinic Ljubljana.

3.4 Employee competences and development

We are well aware that highly-educated and motivated employees are the precondition for 
the achievement of our mission and vision, as well as strategic objectives. The Interenergo 
Group has 37 employees, of these 21 work for the parent company in Ljubljana and the rest 
for its subsidiaries.

Number of employees at Interenergo Group

All employees are highly-skilled and effective, as only 37 of them generate revenues of EUR 
167 million. 

Management of the parent company takes care that employees are offered professional 
training which is adjusted to the local environments where the Group operates, as knowledge 
of the specific features of their local environments guarantees their good performance.

Group companies offer to their employees a stimulating work environment with opportunities 
for personal and professional development. Given the nature of their work, our employees 
regularly participate at various training events and conferences. In 2014, two employees were 
offered specialised training to obtain titles of Master of Business Administration (MBA) and 
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA). 

In the Interenergo Group, salaries have a fixed and variable portion, which allows its 
employees to see the direct link between their performance and their salary. We have variable 
remuneration systems in place that are customised to the nature of employees’ work to 
promote proactive performance and dedication.

Being aware of the importance of social interaction and communication among employees 
of various Group companies and of their loyalty to the Group, we organised winter and 
summer team building events also in 2014. In the winter of 2014, we organised a three-day 
skiing trip to Austria, while in the summer of 2014 we organised a visit to one of the Kelag’s 
hydropower plants in Austria.
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4 RISK MANAGEMENT 

Entrepreneurs agree that there is no opportunity without taking risk. The key objective of 
the Interenergo Group is to ensure at any time appropriate and provide for effective risk 
identification, monitoring and management. Therefore, the Interenergo Group set up a risk 
management system that addresses risks arising from its own activities as well as from its 
markets.

The Group-wide rules and minimum standards ensure systematic and uniform risk 
management. It is the Group’s strategic goal to raise risk awareness at all levels, to 
systematically address risk aspects in all business decisions, to improve performance of 
internal control systems and reporting, and to establish a value-oriented risk culture at all 
levels of the Group, beyond the scope of the statutory requirements.

The main focus of the Group-wide risk management relates to five risk categories – market 
risks, credit risk, legal risk, operational risk and other risks. The risks are identified and managed 
for each business division.

4.1 Market risks
 
Energy price changes and exchange rate fluctuations constitute the key market risks within 
the Interenergo Group.

Market risk is defined as potential losses resulting from changes in market prices. This risk 
arises as a result of holding an open position and increases with price fluctuation or volatility. 
Volatility of and developments in commodity prices have a significant effect on profit of 
Group companies, and are therefore closely monitored. Interenergo monitors its open 
position in view of various limits laid down in its policies, rules and management decisions. 
Group’s policies do not allow any major open positions. 

Currency risk arises from the sale/purchase of goods with origin outside the buyer’s/seller’s 
currency area, or indices expressed in different currencies. To reduce currency risk, most of 
the contracts to buy and sell electricity are EUR-denominated.

4.2 Credit risk
 
Credit risk is defined as the risk that a contractual party will fail to meet its contractual 
obligations, thus affecting the company’s cash flow. Credit risk exists both for open and 
closed positions up to the actual settlement date (settlement risk) and up to the contractual 
delivery date (replacement risk).

Interenergo manages this risk by means of the EFET standard contracts which lay down the 
general legal framework. The risk is also managed by checking the counterparty’s credit 
rating and by monitoring its creditworthiness throughout the contractual relationship, the 
intensity depending on the value of the contract with the counterparty (electricity trader). 
The required guarantees and trading limits are expressed in absolute terms and in view of the 
closely monitored limits/credit lines applying to each partner, which are monitored regularly.

4.3 Legal risk
 
Legal risk is defined as the risk of loss caused by non-compliance with the applicable laws 
and regulations. It arises mainly from contracts and agreements not clearly specified or 
documented. Legal risk must be taken account of above all within the Group’s expansion 
activities, in particular if the country of interest is politically unstable. In certain countries, 
legal risk arises from the poor legal environment.

Interenergo has the necessary legal competencies and cooperates with local offices, if 
necessary. The Group uses the EFET standard contracts, as well as standard forms for legal 
documents (bank guarantees, parent company guarantees, comfort letters, etc.) Legal risk is 
closely monitored by the risk management and legal departments.

4.4 Operational risk
 
 
Operational risk is defined as the risk associated with an entity’s information technology 
system, internal controls and employees. If such risk materialises, the entity might suffer a 
financial loss.

The Group manages this risk by defining in great detail its business processes, internal 
controls, job descriptions, etc. Furthermore, employees are continuously trained, and certain 
business processes follow the four-eye principle.

4.5 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is a financial risk relating to the liquidity of an entity or an individual financial 
instrument.
The liquidity risk of the Company and Group was assessed as minimal in 2014. In order to 
finance small hydropower plants in the Balkan region, the parent company KI-Kelag GmbH 
provides the Company funds and assets in form of non-current loans.
For financing current trading activities, the Company can use the overdraft coverage provided 
by the UniCredit bank or a current loan offered by the controlling company KI-Kelag GmbH.  

The nature of the Company’s core business activity does not include the possibility of 
extending loans to clients with deferred payment, which additionally contributes to the low 
exposure to such risks. The Company is engaged in wholesale trading with a limited number 
of partners on the side of buyers as well as suppliers. Consequently, most of receivables and 
liabilities are offset, whereby liabilities that are not offset are regularly settled within a 20-day 
payment deadline.  

The Company recorded stable and good liquidity ratios in the past years, whereby the 
Company is known among its suppliers as a reliable partner and boast of high payment 
discipline.

4.6 Interest rate risk

Interest risk arises on unfavourable interest rate fluctuations. The Company discloses a non-
current borrowing provided and extended by the controlling company KI-Kelag GmbH 
bearing a fixed interest rate. Interest rate risk is thereby excluded.
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4.7 Other risks
 
The Group is exposed to other risks, such as regulatory risk, political risks, investment risk and 
similar, which are covered by the Interenergo Group’s risk management system and closely 
monitored by the competent departments.

5 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

As of 3 February 2015, the Supervisory Board adopted the resolution on winding up the 
business unit Interenergo d.o.o., business unit Bucharest, Romania. The applicable legislation 
in Romania was amended, hence Interenergo’s trading in electricity there does no longer 
depend on the existance of a business unit. The licence for electricity trading on the Romanian 
market has already been transferred from the business unit to Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana.

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Considering the circumstances known to us at the time of each and every legal transaction 
with the parent company, Interenergo d.o.o. as subsidiary always received adequate 
compensation and did not make any legal transactions or take or omit any actions that 
would be to its detriment.

7 STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Management Board hereby confirms the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2014, the notes thereto on pages 38 to 121, as well as the accounting policies 
applied.

The Management Board is responsible for the preparation of the annual report so that it gives 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and the results of its operations 
for the period ended 31 December 2014.

The Management Board hereby confirms that the relevant accounting policies were applied 
consistently and that the accounting estimates were prepared in compliance with the 
principles of prudence and due diligence. The Management Board also confirms that the 
financial statements and the notes thereto were prepared on a going concern basis and 
in accordance with the applicable legislation and the International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Furthermore, the Management Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records 
and for taking reasonable measures to safeguard the assets of the company and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Within five years after the end of the year in which the tax is to be assessed, tax authorities 
have the right to perform a tax audit, which may consequently lead to additional payments 
of taxes, late payment interest and fines in relation to the corporate income tax and other 
taxes and duties. The Management Board is not aware of circumstances that might result in 
significant liabilities in this respect.

Managing Director: Managing Director:
Christian Schwarz  Anton Papež

Ljubljana, 04 June 2015  
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in EUR

1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1.1 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2014

 Note  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

       
ASSETS                          57,165,209    47,532,361

       

Non-current assets   33,314,132 30,195,990

Intangible assets and long-term accrued  2.4.1. 1,875,738 2,033,498
and deferred items 

Property, plant and equipment 2.4.2. 28,975,002 27,778,773

Non-current investments 2.4.3. 8,460 4,460

Non-current operating receivables 2.4.4. 1,340,122 16,793

Deferred tax assets 2.4.5. 1,114,810 362,466

Current assets   23,851,077 17,336,371

Current investments   0 0

Trade and other receivables 2.4.6. 16,971,607 4,656,822

Income tax receivables 2.4.7. 7,441 45,820

Cash and cash equivalents 2.4.8. 6,360,185 1,971,066

Short-term deferred costs  2.4.9. 511,844 10,662,663

and accrued income     

   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   57,165,209 47,532,361

       

Total equity  2.4.10. 17,041,640 15,273,793

Share capital   10,200,000 10,200,000

Capital surplus   15,450,000 7,950,000

Revenue reserves   95,722 95,722

Consolidated  equity adjustment   -85,635 -71,201

Retained earnings or losses    -3,049,098 -2,227,292

Net loss for the period   -5,608,569 -710,966

Equity of holders of the parent   17,002,420 15,236,263

Equity of non-controlling interests   39,220 37,530 

Non-current liabilities 2.4.11. 22,536,314 18,431,809

Non-current financial liabilities   19,964,000 15,950,000

Non-current trade and other payables   2,559,092 2,469,242

Deferred tax liabilities   13,222 12,567

Current liabilities   17,587,255 13,826,759

Current financial liabilities 2.4.12. 0 1,700,658

Current trade and other payables 2.4.13. 15,400,632 8,381,826

Income tax payables 2.4.13. 25,585 0

Short-term accrued costs  2.4.14. 2,161,038 3,744,275
and deferred income    

   

Total liabilities   40,123,569 32,258,568

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments. 

1.2 Consolidated Income Statement for 2014

 Note   2014 2013

Revenue  2.4.15. 164,933,304 164,546,295

Capitalised own products 2.4.15. 222,893 247,678

Other operating income 2.4.15. 1,698,111 473,237

Costs of goods sold and materials used 2.4.16. -159,681,786 -160,628,434

Costs of services 2.4.18. -2,765, 337 -963,779

Employee benefits expense 2.4.19. -1,693,484 -1,396,713

Write-downs in value 2.4.20. -7,796,125 -1,673,359

Other operating expenses 2.4.21. -479,531 -434,844

Operating profit   -5,561,955 170,081

Finance income 2.4.22. 92,624 89,799

Finance costs 2.4.23. -650,964 -941,953

Loss from financing activities   -558,340 -852,154

Loss before tax  -6,120,295 -682,073

Income tax 2.4.24. 511,726 -23,851

NET LOSS   -5,608,569 -705,924

whereof:      

Attributable to equity holders of the parent   -5,599,795 -710,966

Attributable to non-controlling interests   -8,774 5,042

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.

1.3 Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for 2014

   2014 2013

Loss for the period  -5,604,714 -705,924 

Consolidated equity adjustment   -14,434 -21,959

Total other comprehensive income that may be reclassified  -14,434 -21,959
subsequently to profit or loss   

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME                                                         -14,434 -21,959

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  -5,619,148 -727,883

a) Total comprehensive income attributable to equity   -5,619,148 -727,883
holders of the parent 

b) Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests -8,774 5,042

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.
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in EUR

1.4 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 2014

  

  2014  2013

A. Cash flows from operating activities   

a) Items of income statement   

Profit or loss before tax  -6,120,295 -682,073

Income tax and other taxes not included in operating expenses 511,726 -23,851

Adjustments for amortisation / depreciation  7,781,090 1,224,264

Adjustments for finance income  0 -67,840

Total items of income statement   2,172,521 450,500

    

b) Changes in net operating assets – items in the statement of financial position  

Opening less closing trade receivables   -13,552,017 619,345

Opening less closing deferred costs and accrued income 10,150,819 9,122,599

Opening less closing deferred tax assets  -748,342 3,687

Closing less opening trade payables  7,224,531 -1,182,403

Closing less opening accrued costs and deferred income -1,583,237 -11,639,940

Total items of net operating assets – items in the statement  1,491,754 -3,076,712
of financial position 

 

Paid tax liabilities   -180,140 12,567

c) Net cash from operating activities  3,484,135 -2,613,645

    

B. Cash flows from investing activities   

a) Cash proceeds from investing activities   

Cash proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  0 0

Cash proceeds from sale of current investments   0 0

Total cash proceeds from investing activities   0 0

    

b) Cash disbursements from investing activities    

Acquisition of intangible assets  -293,752 -36,563

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  -8,599,881 -980,892

Acquisition of non-current investments  -4,000 3,000

Total cash disbursements from investing activities  -8,897,633 -1,014,455

    

  c) Net cash used in investing activities  -8,897,633 -1,014,455

    

C. Cash flows from financing activities   

a) Cash proceeds from financing activities   

Increase in non-current financial liabilities   79,687,000 44,295,452

Increase in current financial liabilities   0 1,682,426

Total cash proceeds from financing activities   79,687,000 45,977,878

    

  b) Cash disbursements from financing activities   

Repayment of non-current financial liabilities   -68,170,000 -42,500,000

Repayment of current financial liabilities   -1,700,658 0

Total cash disbursements from financing activities   -69,870,658 -42,500,000

 c) Net cash used in financing activities  9,816,342 3,477,878

D. Closing balance of cash    

a) Net cash inflow or outflow for the period  4,402,844 -150,222  

b) Opening balance of cash  1,971,066 2,143,247

c) Exchange differences  -13,725 -21,959

d) Total closing balance of cash  6,360,185 1,971,066 

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.

1.5 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for 2014

Financial year 2014 
in EUR 

A.1. Balance at 10,200,000 7,950,000 95,722 -2,227,292 -710,966 -71,201 15,236,263 37,530 15,273,793
1 Jan 2014

B1.) Changes in equity –  0 7,500,000 0 0 0 0 7,500,000 3,000 7,503,000
transactions with owners 

d.) Additional paid- 0 7,500,000 0 0 0 0 7,500,000 3,000 7,503,000
in capital

B.2. Total comprehensive 0 0 0 0 -5,608,569 -14,434 -5,623,003 -1,310 -5,624,313
income for the period

Profit or loss 0 0 0 0 -5,608,569 0 -5,608,569 8,774 -5,599,795
for the period

c) Consolidated 0 0 0 0 0 -14,434 -14,434 -10,084 -24,518
equity adjustment

B.3. Changes within 0 0 0 -821,806 710,966 0 -110,840 0 -110,840
equity

b) Allocation of part of 0 0 0 -821,806 710,966 0 -110,840 0 -110,840
loss for the period to
other equity components

C. Balance 10,200,000 15,450,000 95,722 -3,049,098 -5,608,569 -85,635 17,002,420 39,220 17,041,640

at 31 Dec 2014
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Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.
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1.6 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for 2013 2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2.1 Reporting entity

Interenergo, energetski inženiring, d.o.o (hereinafter referred to also as ‘Company’) is hea-
dquartered in Slovenia holds its registered office at Tivolska cesta 48, 1000 Ljubljana. Intere-
nergo d.o.o. is an international company that controls and manages the Interenergo Group. 
The Group is present on energy markets of Central and South-Eastern Europe. The Group’s 
core business goal and fundamental responsibility is a safe and business-efficient supply of 
electricity, as well as the implementation of investment-related projects that promote econo-
mically, environmentally and socially responsible exploitation of renewable energy sources.

The consolidated financial statements of the Interenergo Group for the financial year ended 
31 December 2014 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. Details on the Group’s composition are outlined in the section 2.3.1 Basis of 
consolidation and Group composition. 

2.2 Basis of preparation of financial statements 

2.2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements were prepared by observing the fundamental acco-
unting assumptions i.e. going concern and accrual basis.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC), as adopted by the European Union, and in accordance with provisions 
of the Slovenian Companies Act.

Given the process of adopting standards in the European Union, no difference in Group’s 
accounting policies exist as at the reporting date between the applied International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the European Union.

The qualitative characteristics of financial statements are understandability, relevance, re-
liability, and comparability. The same accounting policies were applied as in the previous 
reporting period.

2.2.2 Basis of measurement

Assets and liabilities of the Group are upon initial recognition measured at cost. The con-
solidated financial statements are prepared by applying the historical cost of individual 
accounting items. 

2.2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in EUR, thus in the Group’s functional 
currency. All financial information is presented in euro.
Assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currency are translated to the local currency as at 
the reporting date by using the reference exchange rate of the ECB.
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Financial year 2013 
in EUR

 

A.1. Balance at  10,200,000 7,950,000 95,722 -2,227,292 0 -49,242 15,969,188 32,488 16,001,676
1 Jan 2013

B1.) Changes in equity –  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
transactions with 
owners

d.) Additional 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

paid-in

B.2. Total comprehensive 0 0 0 0 -710,966 -21,959 -732,925 5,042 -727,883
income for the period

Profit or loss for the 0 0 0 0 -710,966 0 -710,966 5,042 -705,924
period

c) Consolidated equity 0 0 0 0 0 -21,959 -21,959 0 -21,959
adjustment

B.3. Changes within 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
equity

b) Allocation of part of 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
loss for the period to

other equity 
components

C. Balance at 10,200,000 7,950,000 95,722 -2,227,292 -710,966 -71,201 15,236,263 37,530 15,273,793
31 Dec 2013

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.
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2.2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to ac-
counting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected. 

Estimates and judgements primarily refer to:
> estimated useful life of assets,
> impairment of assets.

The Group on a yearly basis verifies whether there is any indication of impairment of non-
-current assets. As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014, the Company tested whe-
ther non-current assets were subject to impairment on the basis of expected cash flows for 
individual cash generating units (CGU), including cash generating units that include goodwill. 
Note 2.4.2 describes all key assumptions used for the impairment testing that resulted in the 
impairment of non-current assets.

2.3 Basis for consolidation of financial statements

2.3.1 Basis of consolidation and Group composition 

Consolidated financial statements consist of the financial statements of the parent or con-
trolling company Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date 
until the date on which the controlling company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
Financial statements of the controlling company and its subsidiaries, used for the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same date.

Balances and intragroup transactions, revenue, expenses, dividends (profit shares) as well as 
gains and losses arising on intragroup assets (i.e. inventories and fixed assets) are eliminated 
from consolidation. Capitalised interest on intragroup loans is eliminated from consolidated 
financial statements. 

In case of the parent company’s changed equity structure that does not result in loss of 
control, the relevant change in equity interests is presented as change in equity. Difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value 
of paid or received contributions is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the holders 
of the parent. In case of loss of control, the Group derecognises assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, including goodwill, as at the date of loss of control. 

The composition of the Interenergo Group as at 31 December 2014 is as follows:

> Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana as the controlling company;
> Interenergo d.o.o. Zagreb (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling company);
> Interenergo d.o.o. Sarajevo (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling company); 
> PLC Interenergo d.o.o. Beograd (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling company);
> Interenergo Makedonia d.o.o. e.l. (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling company);
> EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling company);

> IEP energija d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling 
company);

> Hidrowatt d.o.o. Beograd (PLC Interenergo d.o.o. holds an 80% equity interest);
> IE Electric d.o.o. Banja Luka (controlling company holds a 27% equity interest);
> LSB elektrane d.o.o. Banja Luka  (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling company);
> Inter – Hem d.o.o. Banja Luka – in liquidation (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling 

company);
> Inter – Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf -Uskoplje (in sole ownership (100%) of the controlling 

company);
> MHE Vrbnica d.o.o, Podgorica (controlling company holds a 70% equity interest).

As at the reporting date, the stated companies are consolidated and included in the conso-
lidated financial statements, except for the company IE electric d.o.o. Banja Luka which has 
no significant impact on the Group’s performance.

Consolidated financial statements of the Interenergo Group include intragroup balances 
and transactions with KI-KELAG International GmbH and KELAG - Kärntner Elektrizitäts-Ak-
tiengesellschaft, which are the controlling or parent companies of the Interenergo Group. 
Consequently, balances and transactions are not eliminated upon the consolidation of the 
Interenergo Group.

The financial statements for the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014 were 
approved by the Management Board on 4 June 2015. 

Consolidated financial statements of the Interenergo Group are available at the registered 
office of Interenergo d.o.o. The consolidated financial statements for the widest Group of 
companies are available at the headquarters of KI-KELAG INTERNATIONAL GMBH Arnulfplatz 
2, Postfach 176, Klagenfurt, Austria. 

2.3.2 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions expressed in foreign currency are translated into euro (parent company’s functi-
onal currency) by applying the exchange rate as at the date of transaction. Cash and liabilities 
expressed in foreign currency as at the reporting date are translated into euro at the exchange 
rate ruling on that date. Non-monetary items and liabilities whose historical value is expressed 
in foreign currency are translated into euro by applying the exchange rate ruling on the date 
of transaction. Non-monetary items and liabilities expressed in foreign currency and valued 
at fair value are translated into euro by applying the exchange rate on the day when the 
fair value was determined. Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement, 
except differences that arise on the restatement of equity instruments classified as available 
for sale. Exchange differences arising on operating activities are allocated to the operating 
result, whereas exchange differences resulting on financial operations are allocated to profit 
or loss from financing activities.
Accounting policies outlined below are consistently applied in all periods that are presented 
in the accompanying financial statements.
The Group applied following exchange rates during the compilation of consolidated financial 
statements: 

 As at Average As at Average
  31 Dec 2014 2014 31 Dec 2013 2013

HRK 7.6580 7.6351 7.6376 7.5777

MKD 61.4814 61.6231 61.5113 61.5609

RSD 120.9583 117.1566 114.6421 113.1267

BAM 1.9558 1.9558 1.95583 1.95583



4746 A c c o u n t i n g  R e p o r t  o f  t h e  I n t e r e n e r g o  G r o u p A c c o u n t i n g  R e p o r t  o f  t h e  I n t e r e n e r g o  G r o u p

InterEnergo Annual Report 2014InterEnergo Annual Report 2014

2.3.3 Consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements include: 
> the consolidated statement of financial position which shows the value of assets and 

liabilities at the end of the financial year;
> the consolidated income statement which shows revenue and expenses, as well as its 

profit or loss for the financial year;
> the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income;
> the consolidated statement of cash flows which shows the change in cash over the re-

porting period;
> the consolidated statement of changes in equity which shows changes in equity com-

ponents in the financial year;
> notes that comprise the overview of all significant accounting policies and explanatory 

information.

Theoretically possible items that are not relevant to a specific entity are not presented. 

Accounting policies applied during the compilation of consolidated financial statements 
equal the policies applied in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
31 December 2013, except the newly adopted or amended standards and interpretations 
that became effective as of 1 January 2014 and are outlined below.

Consolidated statement of cash flows
The consolidated statement of cash flows is a fundamental financial statement showing 
a true and fair view of changes in cash and cash equivalents during a financial year. The 
statement of cash flows is prepared by using the indirect method in accordance with IFRS. 
The cash flow statement includes cash flows from operating, investing and financing ac-
tivities. Cash flows are generally not presented in offset amounts. The statement of cash 
flows includes data taken from the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
consolidated income statement by considering also data required for the adjustment of 
inflows and outflows.

Revenue of any type was offset against expenses of any type apart from depreciation or 
amortisation. Instead of these items, profit or loss before tax is included as a new line item 
in cash flows from operating activities. However, profit or loss before tax as well as income 
taxes has been adjusted for depreciation and other non-monetary items, and the items whose 
monetary effects result in cash flows from investing and financing activities. In addition, chan-
ges during the period in net operating assets in items of the statement of financial position 
(including accruals and deferrals) have been taken into account.

Information about major line items (cash receipts and cash payments) of the cash flow sta-
tement has been obtained: 
> by adjusting operating income and operating expenses, as well as finance income from 

trade receivables and finance costs of trade payables from the income statement, includ-
ing changes in current operating assets, accruals and deferrals, provisions and deferred 
taxes during the period;

> from the Company’s books of account (regarding cash flows from financing activities).

 
2.3.4 Newly adopted standards and interpretations

A) Amendments to standards and interpretations
Accounting policies applied during the compilation of consolidated financial statements as 
at 31 December 2014 equal the policies applied in the consolidated financial statements for 
the fiscal year ended 31 December 2013, except the newly adopted or amended standards 
and interpretations that became effective as of 1 January 2014 and are outlined below. 

> IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised)
> IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amended) – Offsetting Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities 
> IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
> IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
> IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
> IAS 39 Financial Instruments (amended): Recognition and Measurement - Novation of 

Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
> IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (amended)  – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Fi-

nancial Assets
> IFRIC  21: Levies

The impact of newly adopted standards and interpretations on the Group’s financial state-
ments are described below. 

> IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised)
 Standard was amended as a consequence of introducing new standards IFRS 11 ‘Joint 

Arrangements’, IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’, and IAS 28 ‘Investments 
in Associates’, which have been renamed into IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures’. The novated standard has no significant impact on the Group’s financial position 
or performance.

> IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amended) – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

 These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to 
set-off”. The amendments also clarify the application of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to 
settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement 
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The Group is offsetting financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities pursuant to IAS 32, thus the revised standard has no relevant impact on the 
Group. 

> IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
 IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

that addresses consolidated financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in 
SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model 
that applies to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes introduced by 
IFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to determine which 
entities are controlled and therefore are required to be consolidated by the parent, com-
pared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. The revised standard has no significant 
impact on the existing interests in Group companies. 

> IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
 IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 – Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities 

– Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for 
jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that 
meet the definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the equity method. 
The review of Group’s joint arrangements showed that the implementation of the new 
standard hereunder has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.  

> IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
 IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 27 related to consoli-

dated financial statements, as well as all of the disclosures that were previously included 
in IAS 28 and IAS 31. These disclosures relate to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are also 
required. The new disclosures required are presented in Note 2.3.1 to the consolidated 
financial statements and Note 2.5.3 to the Company’s financial statements. 
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> IAS 39 Financial Instruments (amended): Recognition and Measurement - Novation 
of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

 Under the amendment, there is no need to discontinue hedge accounting if a hedging 
derivative is novated, provided certain criteria are met. A narrow-scope amendment was 
made to IAS 39 to permit the continuation of hedge accounting in certain circumstances 
in which the counterparty to a hedging instrument changes in order to achieve clearing 
for that instrument. The Group records no derivatives, thus the revised standard will have 
no impact on the Group’s financial position or its financial statements.

> IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (amended)  – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for 
Non-Financial Assets) 

 These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the disclosures 
required under IAS 36. In addition, these amendments require disclosure of the recover-
able amounts for the assets or CGUs for which impairment loss has been recognised or 
reversed during the period. The new disclosures required have no impact on the Group’s 
disclosures.

> IFRIC 21: Levies
 The Interpretations Committee was asked to consider how an entity should account for 

liabilities to pay levies imposed by governments, other than income taxes, in its financial 
statements. This Interpretation is an interpretation of IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Lia-
bilities and Contingent Assets. IAS 37 sets out criteria for the recognition of a liability, one 
of which is the requirement for the entity to have a present obligation as a result of a past 
event (known as an obligating event). The Interpretation clarifies that the obligating event 
that gives rise to a liability to pay a levy is the activity described in the relevant legislation 
that triggers the payment of the levy. The Group is of the opinion that the revised standard 
will have no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

b) New standards and interpretations not yet effective or not yet adopted by the EU 

> IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible assets (Amendment) 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
This amendment clarifies the principle in IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment and 
IAS – 38 Intangible Assets that revenues reflect a pattern of economic benefits that 
are generated from operating a business (which the asset is part of ) rather than the 
economic benefits that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, the ratio 
of revenues generated to total revenues expected to be generated cannot be used to 
depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circum-
stances to amortise intangible assets. The amendment has not yet been endorsed by 
the European Union. The revised standard will have no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.  

> IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture (Amendment): Bearer 
plants

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Bear-
er plants will now be within the scope of IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment and will 
be subject to all of the requirements therein. This includes the ability to choose between 
the cost model and revaluation model for subsequent measurement. Agricultural produce 
growing on bearer plants (e.g. fruit growing on a tree) will remain within the scope of IAS 
41 – Agriculture. Government grants relating to bearer plants will now be accounted for 
in accordance with IAS 20 – Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Gov-
ernment Assistance, instead of in accordance with IAS 41. The amendment has not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. The Group is not engaged in the stated activity, 
hence the revised standard will have no impact on its financial statements.

> IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Amended) Employee Contributions
 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2015. The 

amendment applies to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit 
plans. The objective of the amendment is to simplify the accounting for contributions 
that are independent of the number of years of employee service, for example, employee 
contributions that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. The manage-
ment assesses that the amendment hereunder will not have any impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.  

> IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
 The standard is applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 

adoption permitted. The final phase of IFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments 
project and replaces IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and 
all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification 
and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. The standard has not yet been 
endorsed by the European Union. The management of the Group has assessed that the 
amended standard will have no material effect on its financial statements and the stated 
standard will not be applied early.  

> IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (Amendment): Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 
in Joint Operations

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
IFRS 11 addresses the accounting for interests in joint ventures and joint operations. The 
amendment adds new guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in 
a joint operation that constitutes a business in accordance with IFRS and specifies the 
appropriate accounting treatment for such acquisitions. The amendment has not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. The Management of the Group assesses that the 
amendment will have no impact on its financial statements.  

> IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
 The standard is applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The aim 

of this interim standard is to enhance the comparability of financial reporting by entities 
that are engaged in rate-regulated activities, whereby governments regulate the supply 
and pricing of particular types of activity. This can include utilities such as gas, electricity 
and water. Rate regulation can have a significant impact on the timing and amount of an 
entity’s revenue. The IASB has a project to consider the broad issues of rate regulation and 
plans to publish a Discussion Paper on this subject in due course. Pending the outcome 
of this comprehensive Rate-regulated Activities project, the IASB decided to develop IFRS 
14 as an interim measure. IFRS 14 permits first-time adopters to continue to recognise 
amounts related to rate regulation in accordance with their previous GAAP requirements 
when they adopt IFRS. However, to enhance comparability with entities that already apply 
IFRS and do not recognise such amounts, the standard requires that the effect of rate 
regulation must be presented separately from other items. An entity that already presents 
IFRS financial statements is not eligible to apply the standard. The standard has not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. The management of the Group assesses that the 
revised standard will have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.  

> IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 The standard is applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. IFRS 15 

establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue earned from a contract with a 
customer (with limited exceptions), regardless of the type of revenue transaction or the 
industry. The standard’s requirements will also apply to the recognition and measurement 
of gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the 
entity’s ordinary activities (e.g. sales of property, plant and equipment or intangibles). 
Extensive disclosures will be required, including disaggregation of total revenue; infor-
mation about performance obligations; changes in contract asset and liability account 
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balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard has not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. The management has assessed that the standard 
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.  

> IFRS 27 Separate Financial Statements (Amended)
 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This 

amendment will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements and will 
help some jurisdictions move to IFRS for separate financial statements, reducing compli-
ance costs without reducing the information available to investors. The standard has not 
yet been endorsed by the European Union. The management of has assessed that the 
amended standard will have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.  

> IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture

 The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in 
IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associate or a joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments 
is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it 
is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a 
subsidiary. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. The 
revised standard will have no impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

Annual improvements to IFRS in the 2010-2012 cycle
The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – 2012 cycle, which is a collecti-
on of amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 February 2015. The management of the Group has assessed that the amendments 
will have no material impact on the financial statements.  

> IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: This improvement amends the definitions of ‘vesting 
condition’ and ‘market condition’ and adds definitions for ‘performance condition’ and 
‘service condition’ (which were previously part of the definition of ‘vesting condition’).

> IFRS 3 Business combinations: This improvement clarifies that contingent consideration 
in a business acquisition that is not classified as equity is subsequently measured at fair 
value through profit or loss whether or not it falls within the scope of IFRS 9 – Financial 
Instruments.

> IFRS 8 Operating Segments: This improvement requires an entity to disclose the judge-
ments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria to operating segments 
and clarifies that an entity shall only provide reconciliations of the total of the reportable 
segments’ assets to the entity’s assets if the segment assets are reported regularly.

> IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: This improvement in the Basis of Conclusion of IFRS 13 
clarifies that issuing IFRS 13 and amending IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not remove the ability to 
measure short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rate at their invoice 
amounts without discounting if the effect of not discounting is immaterial.

> IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: The amendment clarifies that when an item 
of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a 
manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount.

> IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures: The amendment clarifies that an entity providing key 
management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting 
entity is a related party of the reporting entity.

> IAS 38 Intangible Assets: The amendment clarifies that when an intangible asset is 
revalued the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the 
revaluation of the carrying amount.  

Annual improvements to IFRS in the 2011-2013 cycle
The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011 – 2013 cycle, which is a collecti-
on of amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2015. The management of the Group has assessed that the amendments 
will have no material impact on the financial statements.  

> IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: This 
improvement clarifies that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a 
new standard that is not yet mandatory, but that permits early application, provided either 
standard is applied consistently throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first IFRS 
financial statements.

> IFRS 3 Business combinations: This improvement clarifies that IFRS 3 excludes from its 
scope the accounting for the formation of a joint arrangement in the financial statements 
of the joint arrangement itself.

> IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: This improvement clarifies that the scope of the 
portfolio exception defined in paragraph 52 of IFRS 13 includes all contracts accounted 
for within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, regardless of whether they meet the definition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities as defined in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

> IAS 40 Investment Properties: This improvement clarifies that determining whether a 
specific transaction meets the definition of both a business combination as defined in 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations and investment property as defined in IAS 40 Investment 
Property requires the separate application of both standards independently of each other. 

Annual improvements to IFRS in the 2012-2014 cycle 
The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 cycle, which is a collec-
tion of amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2016. These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the European 
Union. The management of the Group has assessed that the amendments will have no ma-
terial impact on the financial statements.  

> IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: The amend-
ment clarifies that changing from one of the disposal methods to the other (through 
sale or through distribution to the owners) should not be considered to be a new plan of 
disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is therefore no interruption of 
the application of the requirements in IFRS 5. The amendment also clarifies that changing 
the disposal method does not change the date of classification.

> IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendment clarifies that a servicing con-
tract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset. Also, 
the amendment clarifies that the IFRS 7 disclosures relating to the offsetting of financial 
assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report.

> IAS 19 Employee Benefits: The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality 
corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denom-
inated, rather than the country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep 
market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must 
be used.

> IAS 34 Interim financial reporting: The amendment clarifies that the required interim 
disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-ref-
erence between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within 
the greater interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). 
The Board specified that the other information within the interim financial report must 
be available to users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and at the 
same time. If users do not have access to the other information in this manner, then the 
interim financial report is incomplete. 
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> IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Excep-
tion (amendments)

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The 
amendments address three issues arising in practice in the application of the investment 
entities consolidation exception. The amendments clarify that the exemption from pre-
senting consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary 
of an investment entity, when the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair 
value. Also, the amendments clarify that only a subsidiary that is not an investment entity 
itself and provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. All other 
subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. Finally, the amendments 
to IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when applying 
the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity 
associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries. These amendments have not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. The management of the Group has assessed that 
the amendments will have no material impact on the financial statements.

> IAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative (Amendment)
 The amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements further encourage 

companies to apply professional judgement in determining what information to disclose 
and how to structure it in their financial statements. The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The narrow-focus amendments to 
IAS clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments 
relate to materiality, order of the notes, subtotals and disaggregation, accounting policies 
and presentation of items of other comprehensive income (OCI) arising from equity ac-
counted Investments. These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the European 
Union. The management of the Group has assessed that the amendments will have no 
material impact on the financial statements.  

 

2.3.5 Summary of fundamental accounting policies

Individual categories presented below are in compliance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, which include statutory disclosures and significant matters. The ac-
counting policies applied and the nature and level of disclosures’ materiality are defined in 
internal rules and regulations of individual companies. All significant amounts presented in 
the financial statements are accompanied by comparable information for the previous year, 
inclusive of details in terms of figures and notes. Comparable data is adjusted as to comply 
with the presentation of information in the current year. 
Accounting policies that are outlined below were consistently applied in all periods which 
are outlined in the financial statements.

Intangible assets and long-term deferred costs and accrued income
The item of intangible assets includes primarily advance payments for the acquisition of 
intangible assets, computer software, concessions, licences for small hydropower plants, 
and easements for roofs. Long-term deferred costs and accrued income are recognised as 
long-term deferred costs.

An intangible asset shall be recognised if it is probable that the expected future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Group and that the cost of the 
asset can be measure reliably. An item of intangible assets is initially measured at cost. Upon 
initial recognition, intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses in compliance with the cost model applied. 

An asset meets the identifiability criterion in the definition of an intangible asset when it:
> is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from the Group and sold, trans-

ferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with a related con-
tract, asset or liability; or

> arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are trans-
ferable or separable from the Group or from other rights and obligations.

The straight-line method of amortisation is applied with intangible assets. Amortisation shall 
begin when the intangible asset with finite useful life is available for use. The depreciable 
amount of an intangible asset with finite useful life shall be allocated with regard to its rea-
sonably assessed useful life. The useful life and the method of amortisation are reviewed at 
each year-end.

In 2013 and 2014, the Group applied following amortisation rates:

Concessions and small hydropower plants    3.56%

Easement 6.67%

The recognition of an intangible asset shall be reversed and eliminated from the books of 
account on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its further use 
and subsequent disposal.

In the books of account, an intangible asset shall be carried at its cost, accumulated depre-
ciation and accumulated impairment losses shall be recorded separately; in the statement 
of financial position, however, intangible assets are disclosed exclusively at their carrying 
amount.

Property, plant and equipment
The item of property, plant and equipment includes mostly equipment in small hydropower 
plants, small hydropower plants in course of construction, office and computer equipment, 
and advances for acquiring property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised as an asset in the books of 
account if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Upon initial recognition, the 
cost of an asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable 
purchase duties less any discounts and rebates, and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to the condition necessary for its intended use and management’s expectations. 
Borrowing costs relating directly to acquisition or construction of relevant assets increase 
the cost of such asset. The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying 
asset shall commence when expenditures for the asset are being incurred, when borrowing 
costs are being incurred, and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended 
use or sale are in progress.

Subsequent expenditure on an item of property, plant and equipment increases its cost 
if it increases its future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed. An item of 
property, plant and equipment is upon initial recognition recorded at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment loss in compliance with the cost model applied. 

According to Group’s estimate, no major costs shall be incurred during the dismantling and 
removing of property, plant and equipment that would require being included in the cost. 
Small hydropower plants are constructed according to the Build-operate-transfer system i.e. 
upon the expiry of the concession owned by the Group, the asset and the commitment for 
its dismantling and restoration of the site, where the assets was located, is transferred to the 
country in which it was constructed.  
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The cost of a self-constructed or developed item of property, plant and equipment comprises 
the cost of construction or production of the asset and the indirect costs of its constructi-
on or production that may be allocated to it. Capitalised own products refer to capitalised 
Group’s engineering services within their small hydropower plants. Internal profits or losses 
are not generated.

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated individually, using the straight-line 
method without considering the residual value.

The Group applied following depreciation rates in 2013 and 2014:

Computers and computer equipment 50%

Solar power plants 6.67% – 8.89%

Other equipment not located in the small hydropower plants 20%

Plants and equipment in the small hydropower plants 1.67% – 3.56%

An item of property, plant and equipment shall be derecognised in the books of account 
on its disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
Difference between the profit on disposal and the carrying amount of the disposed item of 
property, plant and equipment is included in the income statement.

As for the books of account, the cost is disclosed separately and the same applies to accumu-
lated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, whereas the statement of financial 
position discloses solely the carrying amount.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, 
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade 
and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. With instruments 
not recognised at fair value through profit or loss, fair value is increased by any directly at-
tributable transaction costs associated with the instrument’s purchase or issue. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the finan-
cial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
An instrument is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is de-
signated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instruments are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes purchase and sale 
decisions based on their fair value and in accordance with the investment strategy. Upon 
initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incur-
red. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and 
changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are 
included in the statement of cash flows as a component of cash and cash equivalents. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 
Loans and receivables include loans granted, as well as trade and other receivables. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simul-
taneously. 

Accounting of finance income and costs is discussed within the accounting policies under 
‘Finance income and finance costs’.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objec-
tive evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of 
an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value.

Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining 
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost 
and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets and deferred tax assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Impairment of goodwill 
is estimated on each reporting date.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce 
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
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The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. The goodwill acquired in a business 
combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impair-
ment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the ca-
rrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised in the previous periods.

Short-term accruals and deferrals

Deferred costs and accrued revenue include short-term deferred costs or expenses and 
short-term accrued revenue. 

Short-term deferred costs comprise amounts incurred but not charged against the Group’s 
activity. Short-term accrued revenue arises when payments have not been received and 
invoices could not have been issued, but where an entity has good reasons to include the 
revenue in its profit or loss.

Accrued costs and deferred revenue comprise short-term accrued costs and expenses and 
short-term deferred revenue. 

Accrued costs consist of expenses that are expected, but related invoices were not yet rece-
ived and refer to the period for which the income statement is prepared. Short-term defer-
red revenue arises when services to be rendered in the future have already been invoiced. 
Revenue can be deferred when eligibility for its recognition is doubtful at the date of sale. 

Equity 
Total equity comprises called-up capital, capital surplus (share premium), revenue reserves, 
retained earnings or retained losses, and consolidated equity adjustment. Equity of non-
-controlling interests is disclosed separately.

Total comprehensive income for the period consists of the profit or loss for the period and 
other comprehensive income that includes items of income and expenses not recognised 
in profit or loss.

Revenue
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising in course of the 
ordinary activities of an entity when those inflows result in increases in equity, other than 
increases relating to contributions from equity participants.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
entity and these benefits can be measured reliably. Revenue arises on the sale products, 
rendering of services and use of Group’s assets at others that result in interest and divi-
dends.

The item of revenue includes operating income and finance income. The item of operating 
income comprises revenue from sale of electricity and electrical capacities and other opera-
ting income associated with products and services. 

Revenue shall be recognised when the entity has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably when it 
is probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity 
and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably.

The Group is engaged in wholesale of electricity. Revenue generated on sale of electricity 
is recognised when the electricity is supplied to the wholesale dealer and the contractually 
agreed place of supply, and all the risks are transferred from seller to buyer.

Finance income is income from investing activities. Finance income arise in association with 
investments and receivables. Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, 
dividend income, gains on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in fair value 
of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, and exchange gains arising 
on financing activities that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it 
accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised 
in profit or loss on the date that the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established, 
which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

Expenses
Expenses shall be recognised if decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period 
are associated with decreases in assets or increases in liabilities and such decreases can be 
measured reliably. Expenses are classified as operating expenses, finance costs and other 
costs. Operating expenses and finance costs are ordinary expenses. 

The Group is engaged in wholesale of electricity. Operating expenses are recognised when 
the electricity is received at the contractually agreed place of supply, and all the risks are 
transferred from seller to buyer.

Revaluation operating expenses arise in connection with current assets as a result of their 
impairment.

Finance costs include costs of financing and costs of investing. The former primarily comprise 
interest paid, while the latter primarily refer to revaluation finance costs. Finance costs compri-
se borrowing costs, exchange losses from financing activities, change in fair value of financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, and impairment losses on financial assets 
that are recognised in income statement. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to 
the acquisition of a qualifying asset in construction or production are recognised in income 
statement using the effective interest method. 

Operating lease
Lease is defined as operating lease if the Group transfers all risks and benefits of the owner-
ship. Rentals under the operating lease are recognised as cost in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. If the operating lease contract is terminated prior to the 
expiration of the lease term, each lease payment required by the lessor as a penalty for the 
breach of contract is recorded as expense in the period in which the contract is terminated.

Employee benefits
The employee benefits include employment benefits such as wages and social security 
contributions, annual and sick leave, vacation bonus, non-monetary benefits such as medical 
care, accommodation, use of company cars and other bonuses, and voluntary supplementary 
pension insurance. 
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in EUR

in EUR

Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised 
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in compre-
hensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
financial years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the financial position liability method providing for tempo-
rary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the 
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred 
tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of 
goodwill. The amount of deferred tax bases on the expected way of settling the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if there is legal right to offset current tax assets 
with current income tax liabilities and the deferred tax relates to the same taxable person 
and the same tax body.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

Operating profit or loss 
Operating profit or loss is defined as profit before tax and items from financing activity. 
Items from financing activity include interest on bank balances, deposits, available-for-sale 
investments, interest on borrowings, gains or losses from sale of available-for-sale financial 
instruments, and exchange gains and losses arising on translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities expressed in foreign currencies.

Fair value
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset the Group must take into account the 
counterpart’s ability to generate economic benefits by the best possible use of the asset or 
its sale to the another counterpart on the market that shall use the asset at its best.
The Group applies valuation methods that are adequate in given circumstances and for which 
sufficient information exists, in particular by using proper market input data and a minimum 
use of non-market data.
Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed in the financial statements at fair value are clas-
sified pursuant to the fair value hierarchy on the basis of the lowest level of input data that 
are significant for measuring the whole fair value:

Level 1 – market prices (unadjusted) on the active market for similar assets and liabilities 
Level 2 – valuation model that is directly or indirectly founded on market data. 
Level 3 – valuation model that is founded on market data. 

As for assets and liabilities that were recognised in the financial statements already in previous 
periods, the entity establishes at the end of each period whether any level-related changes 
occurred and thereby reviews the classification of assets by taking into account the lowest 
level of input data  that are significant for measuring the whole fair value.
Fair value hierarchy in view of Group assets and liabilities is laid down in Note 2.6.

2.4 Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2.4.1 Intangible assets and long-term deferred costs and accrued income

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Intangible assets and long-term deferred costs and accrued income 1,875,738 2,033,498

Movements in intangible assets (IA) in 2014:
          

COST in EUR Industrial property IA being Total
 rights acquired

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2014 2,068,063 81,688 2,149,751

Additions  12,977 280,775 293,752

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2014 2,081,040 362,463 2,443,503

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Industrial property IA being Total
 rights acquired

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2014 -120,734 0 -120,734

Amortisation  -101,173 0 -101,173

Impairment  -327,835 -27,321 -355,156

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2014 -549,742 -27,321 -577,063

CARRYING AMOUNT Industrial property IA being Total
 rights acquired

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2014 1,947,329 81,688 2,029,017

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2014 1,531,298 335,142 1,866,440

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Long-term deferred costs and accrued income    9,298 4,481

1. Long-term deferred costs and accrued income  9,298 4,481

  

The largest share among intangible assets refers to concessions for constructing small hy-
dropower plants and easements for buildings where the solar power plants are set up. The 
company EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka records a concession for the small hydropower plants Nova-
kovići on the Ugar river in the amount of EUR 1,234,274 (31 December 2013: EUR 1,622,564). 
The company Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana records easement with respect to the photovoltaic 
or solar power plants set up on the Martex building in the amount of EUR 111,561 (31 Decem-
ber 2013: EUR 120,433) and the Mura building in the amount of EUR 160,274 (31 December 
2013: EUR 172,614). Intangible assets being acquired (EUR 199,519) refer to development 
and launch of the new information trading system by Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana, as well as 
to concessions for building the small hydropower plant at EHE d.o.o. in the amount of EUR 
54,367 (Zapeće small hydropower plant) and the company LSB Elektrane d.o.o. in the amount 
of EUR 81,256 (Medna small hydropower plant).

In 2014, intangible assets were impaired in the total amount of EUR 355,156. The relevant 
impairment includes the concessions at the company EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka. Further details 
on impairment-related assumptions are described in Note 2.4.2.
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in EUR

Movements in intangible assets in 2013:

  31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Intangible assets and long-term deferred costs and accrued income 2,033,498 2,583,200

          
 

COST in EUR Goodwill  Industrial IA being Total
  property rights acquired

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2013 448,475 2,015,065 77,475 2,541,015

Additions  0 32,350 4,213 36,563

Transfer from property, plant and 0 20,648 0 20,648
equipment

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2013 448,475 2,068,063 81,688 2,598,226

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Goodwill  Industrial IA being Total
  property rights acquired

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2013 0 -37,525 0 -37,525

Amortisation  0 -83,209 0 -83,209

Impairment  -448,475 0 0 -448,475

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2013 -448,475 -120,734 0 -569,209

CARRYING AMOUNT Goodwill  Industrial IA being Total
  property rights acquired

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2013 448,475 1,977,540 77,475 2,503,490

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2013 0 1,947,329 81,688 2,029,017

 

   

  31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012 

 

Long-term deferred costs and accrued income  4,481 79,710 

1. Long-term deferred costs and accrued income  4,481 7,820

2. Long-term development costs  0 71,890

  

During the acquisition of the companies LSB Elektrarne d.o.o. (holder of the concession for the 
construction of the Medna small hydropower plant) and Interhem d.o.o. (holder of the con-
cession for the construction of the Kobiljska rijeka small hydropower plant) in 2012, goodwill 
occurred as the difference between the carrying amount of equity and the acquisition cost. 
The latter represents the estimated market value of the stated company’s capital on the date of 
acquisition. The estimate was calculated by applying the discounted future cash flow method. 
Assumptions used in the relevant calculation include (i) the anticipated revenue from sale of 
electricity which was assessed on the basis of hydrological duration curves, (ii) the estimated 
value of investments in small hydropower plants, (iii) the duration of concession, (iv) share of 
the concession fee and structure of other operating expenses (i.e. industrial standard which is 
combined with the historical analysis on other comparable power plants owned by the Group). 
WACC before tax (8.5%) was applied and calculated as the weighted average cost of capital for 
investments made in small hydropower plants, taking account also of the government’s risk. 
In 2013, the development of the Medna small hydropower plant project lagged behind the 
plans which led to its suspension, whereby the concession of the Kobiljska rijeka hydropower 
plant was merged with the concession for the Zapeće small hydropower plant, with EHE d.o.o. 
being the holder of activity; as a result of the aforesaid, the value of goodwill was impaired.  

2.4.2 Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Property, plant and equipment  28,975,002 27,778,773

Movements in property, plant and equipment in 2014:

COST in EUR  Land and Production PPE being Advances Total
 buildings plant and acquired for PPE
  equipment

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2014 11,266,242 15,768,147 1,492,419 602,546 29,129,354

Additions  30,320 895,622 7,567,098 875,635 9,368,675

Disposals  -33,908 -25,388 -42,062 -681,302 -782,660

Transfer to intra-positions 4,117,173 -4,117,173 0 0 0

Translation difference -10,396 -23,258 -17  0 -33,671

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2014 15,369,431 12,497,950 9,017,438 796,879 37,681,698

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Land and Production PPE being Advances Total
 buildings plant and acquired for PPE
  equipment

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2014 -430,418 -920,163 -40,744 0 -1,391,325

Depreciation  -535,958 -534,600 -597 0 -1,071,155

Impairment  -2,362,371 -913,426 -2,973,954 0 -6,249,751

Transfer to intra-positions -221,434 221,434 0 0 0

Translation difference 1,235 4,300 0 0 5,535

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2014 -3,548,946 -2,142,455 -3,015,295 0 -8,706,696

CARRYING AMOUNT Land and Production PPE being Advances Total
 buildings plant and acquired for PPE
  equipment

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2014 10,835,824 14,847,984 1,451,675 602,546 27,738,029

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2014 11,820,485 10,355,495 6,002,143 796,879 28,975,002

     

The value of buildings refers to small hydropower plants in Bosnia and Herzegovina, and 
Serbia. Most of the buildings’ value in the amount of EUR 7,719,427 (31 December 2013: EUR 
10,155,808) refers to the Novakovići small hydropower plant. 
The total value of buildings at Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje in Bosnia and Herzegovina is recorded at 
EUR 3,853,403 (31 December 2013: EUR 437,100) and the value of the buildings of the small 
hydropower plant on the Poštica river in Serbia at EUR 164,127 (31 December 2013: EUR 
178,662). The amount of EUR 83,528 represents land acquired for building the Medna small 
hydropower plant. The value of buildings in the company Inter – Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-
-Uskoplje increases as a result of reducing the value of its production plant and equipment 
due to reclassifications within the items of property, plant and equipment. 

The value of production plant and equipment primarily includes the equipment in the hy-
dropower plants and the value of photovoltaic power plants in Slovenia. 

in EUR in EUR
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The value of panels and other equipment referring to solar power plants in Slovenia is recor-
ded at EUR 2,855,067 (31 December 2013: EUR 2,240,344). Other fixed assets in Interenergo 
d.o.o. Ljubljana are disclosed in the amount of EUR 96,632 (31 December 2013: EUR 38,554)

The value of production plant in the Novakovići small hydropower plant, owned by EHE d.o.o. 
Banja Luka, is recorded at EUR 1,444,206 (31 December 2013: EUR 1,890,314). IEP energija d.o.o. 
Gornji Vakuf – Uskoplje (2 small hydropower plants) owns plant worth EUR 2,838,839 (31 De-
cember 2013: EUR 3,297,759), whereas the value of production plant and equipment in the 
company Inter – Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje (3 small hydropower plants) amounts 
to EUR 2,755,860 (31 December 2013: EUR 6,982,457) and in the company Hidrowatt d.o.o. 
(1 small hydropower plant) to EUR 361,326 (31 December 2013: EUR 394,704). The value of 
equipment in the company Inter – Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje is reduced as a result 
of increasing the value of its real properties due to reclassifications within the items of pro-
perty, plant and equipment.

Investments in course of construction and advances for the Zapeće small hydropower plant, 
owned by EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka, are recorded at EUR 5,929,109 (31 December 2013: EUR 
1,588,458), while in the Medna small hydropower plant, owned by LSB elektrane d.o.o. Banja 
Luka, at EUR 911,342 (31 December 2013: EUR 504,176). 

Production plant and equipment being acquired are not subject to depreciation.
Property, plant and equipment are not pledged as collateral for liabilities. 

As at 31 December 2014, the Group carried out a valuation of individual hydropower plants 
and established that their book value exceeds their recoverable amount and consequently 
recognised impairment losses. The estimate was calculated by applying the discounted future 
cash flow method. Assumptions used in the relevant calculation include (i) the anticipated 
revenue from sale of electricity which was assessed on the basis of hydrological duration 
curves, (ii) the estimated value of investments in small hydropower plants, (iii) the duration 
of concession, (iv) share of the concession fee and structure of other operating expenses 
(i.e. industrial standard which is combined with the historical analysis on other comparable 
power plants owned by the Group). The discount rate was applied and calculated as the 
weighted average cost of capital for investments made in small hydropower plants, taking 
account also of the government’s risk. 

The investments in the hydropower plants in Bosnia and Herzegovina were made by 
applying the DBOT business model (Design, Build, Operate, Transfer). This indicates that the 
duration of the concession period is defined as from the date of signing the concession 
contract (in the Republika Srpska) or completing the planning and construction of the 
hydropower plant (in Bosnia and Herzegovina), whereby producers of green electricity can 
choose between the ensured feed-in tariff (grants) or the operating grant at concurrent 
sale of energy on the market. Upon the lapse of the concession period, the hydropower 
plant’s ownership is planned to be transferred to the concession provider, although the 
concession period may be prolonged. The producer starts to sell electricity under mar-
ket conditions not later than once the period for paying out grants for producing green 
electricity expires.

Group’s investment-related decisions are based on the assumption that the investor shall 
receive for electricity produced the feed-in tariff in the starting period; at a later stage, market 
prices will be applied once they exceed the feed-in tariff. The withdrawal from the grants 
system is anticipated at a later stage due to lower estimated market prices. The previously 
mentioned development triggered the need for impairing the investment.

Value of investments is assessed by using the method of discounted cash flows that were 
determined in compliance with the duration of the concession period. With power plants 
starting operations in different time frames, a period of up to 2056 is taken into account.

The recoverable amount is based on following assumptions:
> electricity produced on an annual level equals the estimated production volume as con-

firmed by competent bodies;
> at beginning, feed-in tariffs were defined as prices for electricity produced. Transition 

to electricity’s price on the market, whose amount is estimated by the Pöyry study for 
individual countries, will be conducted after the market prices of electricity exceed the 
feed-in tariff and not later than by the expiry of the feed-in tariff period;

> operating costs (case-dependent) result from the industrial standard and historical data 
for the 2012 – 2014 period; 

> the duration of the project equals the concession’s duration;
> weighted average cost of capital (WACC) before tax was applied and calculated at 8.73% 

for the operation of power plants in Bosnia and Herzegovina. WACC before tax is 9.38%.

While comparing the value in use with the value of investment before revaluation, the Group 
established the need for impairing investments as at 31 December 2014 in the amount of 
EUR 6.6m. First, the impairment lowered the value of revaluation reserves in equity by EUR 
57,518, whereas the difference of EUR 6,547,389 is charged against the profit or loss for the 
period. The value in use exceed in case of the Medna small hydropower plant its carrying 
amount; hence, no impairment was carried out as required under the cost model applied in 
valuating property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 December 2014, property, plant and equipment in use were not yet finally depre-
ciated.

Commitments arising from acquisition of fixed assets and recognised as of 31 December 
2013 and 31 December 2014 are not due or were settled in due time. 

Movements in property, plant and equipment in 2013:

  31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Property, plant and equipment  27,778,773 27,335,587
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COST in EUR Land and Production PPE being Advances Total
 buildings plant and acquired for PPE
  equipment

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2013 3,267,116 23,604,661 692,575 27,510 27,591,862

Additions  62,558 178,061 911,967 575,677 1,748,912

Transfer from investments in course 0 112,634 -112,634 0 0

Disposals  -23,256 -140,020 0 -2,489 -165,765

Transfer to intra-positions 7,961,441 -7,963,800 511 1,848 0

Transfer to intangible assets  0 -20,649 0 0 -20,649

Translation difference -1,617 -2,740 0 0 -4,357

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2013 11,266,242 15,768,147 1,492,419 602,546 29,129,354

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Land and Production PPE being Advances Total
 buildings plant and acquired for PPE
  equipment

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2013 -24,970 -231,304 0 0 -256,274

Depreciation  -405,643 -730,016 0 0 -1,135,659

Translation difference 74 118 0 0 192

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2013 -430,418 -920,163 0 0 -1,350,581

CARRYING AMOUNT Land and Production PPE being Advances Total
 buildings plant and acquired for PPE
  equipment

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2013 3,242,146 23,373,357 692,575 27,510 27,335,588

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2013 10,835,824 14,847,984 1,492,419 602,546 27,778,773

2.4.3 Non-current investments

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current investments  8,460 4,460

Investments in IE Electric d.o.o. Banja Luka  460 460

Non-current loans to third parties  8,000 4,000

The Interenergo Group discloses investments made in the associated company IE Electric 
d.o.o. Banja Luka worth EUR 460. 

Loans to third parties include a loan extended to the associated company IE Electric d.o.o. 
Banja Luka in the amount of EUR 8,000 (31 December 2013: EUR 4,000). 

2.4.4 Non-current operating receivables

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current operating receivables  1,340,122 16,793 

Operating receivables due from third parties  1,340,122 16,793

    

Non-current operating receivables include the collateral provided in connection with busi-
ness premises of Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana in the amount of EUR 16,793 and to non-current 
receivables of the company EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka due from Elektrokrajina BIH in the amount 
of EUR 1,323,329 relating to the power line construction. The receivable due from Elektro-
krajina BIH is paid in equal annual instalments until the final repayment, which is due as at 
31 December 2020 and is not secured.

2.4.5 Deferred tax assets

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Deferred tax assets arising on  1,114,810 362,466

- tax losses  901,257 208,324

- impairment of trade receivables  77,405 76,535

- impairment of investments  75,010 75,010

- transferred unutilised tax incentives  61,138 2,597

Deferred tax assets refer to impairment of investments and receivables, and to unutilised tax 
incentives. Net effect of deferred tax assets amounted in the reporting period to EUR 752,344.

2.4.6. Trade and other receivables

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current trade receivables  16,971,607 4,656,822

1. Trade receivables  15,164,204 3,011,132

2.  Receivables due from others  1,807,403 1,645,690

 -  current advances given  556,454 1,354,974

 -   tax receivables  837,840 206,825

 -  receivables due from others  413,109 83,891

Group’s current tax receivables include input VAT receivables in the amount of EUR 834,583 
(31 December 2013: EUR 171,324) and other taxes and statutory fees. 

The item of current trade receivables due from others includes collaterals provided by the 
Group to local and foreign companies, and other receivables. 

As at the reporting date, 7% of trade receivables were secured with bank guarantees received. 
2% of trade receivables were secured as at the end of 2013. The Group records no receivables 
due from members of the Management Board, the Supervisory Board and internal owners 
as at 31 December 2014.

Current trade receivables are not past due as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013. 
As at 31 December 2012, allowances for doubtful operating receivables due from a foreign 
company were formed in the amount of EUR 408,000. On 31 December 2013, no allowances 
for doubtful current receivables were formed, whereas they were formed as at the reporting 
date in the amount of EUR 3,866. 
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2.4.7 Income tax receivables

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Income tax receivables  7,441 45,820

    

2.4.8 Cash and cash equivalents

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Cash and cash equivalents  6,360,185 1,971,066

Cash in hand  127 346

Bank balances  4,482,927 1,799,335

Short-term deposits  1,877,131 171,384

The overdraft coverage of Interenergo d.o.o. at the UniCredit banka d.d. is set at EUR 1.5m 
and used for current operations.

2.4.9 Short-term deferred costs and accrued income

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Deferred costs and accrued income  511,844 10,662,663

Short-term deferred costs   175,785 26,745

Accrued income   147,370 318,229

Accrued income - electricity  188,689 9,750,175

Accrued income - Kelag  0 567,514

2.4.10 Equity

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Equity   17,041,640 15,273,793

Share capital   10,200,000 10,200,000

Capital surplus  15,450,000 7,950,000

Legal reserves  95,722 95,722

Retained earnings or losses  -3,049,098 -2,227,292

Net loss for the period  -5,608,569 -710,966

Consolidated equity adjustment  -85,635 -71,201

Non-controlling interest  39,220 37,530

As at 31 December 2014, parent company’s capital surplus is recorded in the amount of EUR 
15,450,000 and refers to subsequent contributions made by owners.

Net loss for the fiscal year is recorded at EUR 5,608,569 and was transferred as at 31 Decem-
ber 2014 to the item of retained earnings or losses. With respect to the revaluation of the 
equity’s opening balance (EUR 15,273,793), restated by the growth of the cost-of-living index 
(2014: 0.2%), the equity should have been reduced by EUR 30,548 in order to maintain the 
purchasing power (average balance of equity * % price growth).

The consolidated equity adjustment arises on exchange differences that occur during the 
consolidation of subsidiaries’ financial statements. The balances in the statement of financial 
position are translated into euro by using the closing exchange rate of the European Cen-
tral Bank (ECB), whereby items in the income statement are translated by applying the ECB 
average exchange rate.

Non-controlling interests within equity are recorded in the amount of EUR 39,220 and refer to 
minority owners of the company Hidrowatt d.o.o. located in Serbia, holding a 20% equity inte-
rest and the company MHE Vrbnica d.o.o. in Montenegro, where they own a 30% equity interest.

2.4.11 Non-current liabilities

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current liabilities  22,536,314 18,431,809

Non-current financial liabilities  19,964,000 15,950,000

Non-current operating liabilities  2,559,092 2,469,242

Deferred tax liabilities  13,222 12,567

Non-current financial liabilities comprise the borrowing extended by the company KI-KELAG 
International GmbH in the amount of EUR 19,964,000 (31 December 2013: EUR 15,950,000), 
which bears a market interest rate and is not secured. The borrowing matures at the end of 
2030. The borrowing is earmarked for financing investments made in projects relating to 
renewable sources of energy or primarily small hydropower plants and to provide for Group’s 
liquidity in electricity trading. 

Group’s non-current operating liabilities as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 are 
disclosed in connection with the company Interenergo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf – Uskoplje. They 
relate to the discounted amount of entitlement under the purchase money for fixed assets, 
which is accounted for up to 20% of net cash flow generated from production in all three 
small hydropower plants throughout the entire concession period

The Group records no non-current liabilities to members of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board.

2.4.12 Current financial liabilities

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current financial liabilities   0 1,700,658

Financial liabilities to Group companies   0 379,950

Financial liabilities to banks   0 1,320,708
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Current financial liabilities to banks include in 2013 the use of the contractual overdraft on the 
bank account at Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana. The Company has the option to use an overdraft 
of EUR 1.5m at the UniCredit Banka d.d. for current business operations. As at the year-end of 
2014, the Company did not make use of the overdraft on the bank account.

Current financial liabilities to the parent company comprise interest on the borrowing from 
the company KI-KELAG, which as at 31 December 2013 amounted to EUR 379,950. They were 
fully repaid in 2014, hence the relevant balance was EUR 0 as at 31 December 2014.

2.4.13 Current trade and income tax payables

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current trade and income tax payables  15,426,217 8,381,826

Payables from advances   543,607 281,000

Trade payables   14,701,726 7,917,243

Tax payables  39,603 81,322

Income tax   25,585 0

Payables for social security contributions  39,388 18,464

Other current payables   76,308 83,797

Trade payables are not past due as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014.
Other current payables include primarily undue payables to employees for wages and salaries 
accounted. 

The Group records no current liabilities to members of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board.

2.4.14 Short-term accrued costs and deferred income

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Short-term accrued costs and deferred income   2,161,038 3,744,275

Accrued costs  380,381 46,588

Accrued costs of purchasing electricity   1,624,938 3,630,252

Accrued costs of wages and salaries  153,796 67,435

Deferred income   1,923 0

The item of short-term accrued costs and deferred income mostly consists of accrued costs 
and expenses for the electricity purchased. 

2.4.15 Operating income

   2014 2013

Total operating income  166,854,308 165,267,210

Income on electricity trading  162,316,436 162,672,325

Revenue from sale of electricity   2,616,868 1,873,970

Other operating income  1,698,111 473,237

Capitalised own products  222,893 247,678

  

   2014 2013

Revenue   164,933,304 165,019,532

Revenue from sales on the domestic market  31,393,698 39,242,638

Revenue from sales on the foreign market  133,539,606 125,776,894

The largest portion of revenue from Group’s sale of electricity in the amount of EUR 
151,027,339 (2013: EUR 149,179,544) refers to Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana and accounts for 
93% (2013: 90%) of total revenue generated by the Interenergo Group.

The largest portion of other revenue relates to the construction of the Kneževo – Kotor Varoš 
power line and is recorded at EUR 1,357,260 and to exchange differences in the amount of 
EUR 239,003 that are allocated to the operating part of the statements.

2.4.16 Costs of goods sold and materials used

   2014 2013

Costs of goods sold and material used  -159,681,786 -160,628,434

Costs of goods sold   -159,616,998 -160,604,571

Costs of material used   -64,788 -23,863

Costs of goods and material sold represent the electricity purchased and costs of electricity 
transfer, which includes costs of transfer capacities, export taxes, costs of forwarding services 
and other direct costs of purchasing electricity.

Costs of material used comprise costs of office stationary (2014: EUR 26,323, 2013: EUR 13,872), 
small tools (2014: EUR 4,820, 2013: EUR 7,710), costs of professional literature (2014: EUR 3,113; 
2013: EUR 2,281), costs of fuel in the amount of EUR 25,533 and other costs of material EUR 4,999.
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2.4.17 Costs by function

   2014 2013

Costs of goods sold and material used including  -159,870,394 -160,628,434
capitalised own products

Selling expenses   -2,226,191 -2,234,348

General and administrative expenses  -10,546,497 -2,234,348

Total costs by function  -172,643,082 -165,097,130

Costs of goods sold include the purchase of electricity and costs of capacities, whereas tra-
ding-related costs are included in selling expenses.

2.4.18 Costs of services

   2014 2013

Costs of services  -2,765,337 -963,779

Professional and personal services  -189,508 -125,329

Rentals  -217,024 -190,149

Costs of bank services   -212,935 -167,338

Audit costs   -33,656 -39,611

Other costs   -2,112,214 -441,352

The largest portion of other costs of services includes the construction of the Kneževo – Kotor 
Varoš power line in the amount of EUR 1,357,260 and costs of current maintenance of small 
hydropower plants amounting to EUR 209,140.

Larger amounts among costs of services include also travel expenses (2014: EUR 83,183; 
2013: EUR 74,957), advertising and entertainment costs (2014: EUR 78,111; 2013: EUR 71,961), 
insurance costs (2014: EUR 121,350; 2013: EUR 85,267), and other maintenance costs (2014: 
EUR 93,455; 2013: EUR 56,425).

Audit costs amounted in 2014 to EUR 33,656 (2013: EUR 39,611) and refer to auditing the 
financial statements of the Group.

Operating lease

   2014 2013

Rent of business premises  -129,189 -101,250

Car parking rent   -8,962 -9,477

Apartment rent   -6,900 -6,600

Car rental   -27,338 -25,245

Computer software and IT rental  -44,636 -47,577

Total rental  -217,025 -190,149

All leases disclosed by the Group are cancellable.

2.4.19 Employee benefits expense

   2014 2013

Employee benefits expense  -1,693,484 -1,396,713

Wages and salaries  -1,408,005 -1,150,931

Pension insurance costs  -96,339 -72,023

Other social security costs  -135,736 -123,896

Other employee benefits expense  -53,404 -49,863

The Interenergo Group recorded as at the reporting date 37 full-time employees (2013: 32). 
No claims by employees exist that would be contested by the company.

EDUCATIONAL STRUCTURE  No. of leavers/ No. of Share 
2014 employees new hires employees
 at 1 Jan 2013  at 31 Dec 2014 

Primary school education 2 0 2 5%

Secondary school education 3 1 4 11%

College education 11 4 15 41%

University education 14 -1/+1 14 38%

Master’s Degree 2 0 2 5% 

TOTAL 32 5 37 100%

   2014 2013

Total amount of earnings recorded by individual groups of persons  675,242 629,874 

Members of the management and holder of procuration 261,137 265,007

Other employees under individual contracts  414,104 364,867

2.4.20 Write-downs in value

   2014 2013

Write-downs in value  -7,796,125 -1,673,359

Revaluation operating expenses associated with property,  -6,547,389 -448,475
plant and equipment 

Revaluation operating expenses associated with current operating assets -18,890 -622

Amortisation of intangible assets   -101,173 -83,272

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   -1,128,673 -1,140,990
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2.4.21 Other operating expenses

   2014 2013

Other operating expenses  -479,531 -434,844

Donations   -12,836 -6,547

Membership fees  -5,010 -4,196

Damages   0 -8,187

Charges, non-refundable levies  -144,678 -161,125

Other costs  -317,007 -254,789 

2.4.22 Finance income

   2014 2013

Finance income    92,624 89,799

Income on loans to others  65,641 17,222

Income on trade receivables due from others  26,983 72,577

Finance income on loans to others includes interest received on deposits and other interest-
-related income.

2.4.23 Finance costs

   2014 2013

Finance costs  -650,964 -941,953

Costs of borrowings from the parent company  -537,262 -756,994

Costs of financial liabilities to others  -113,702 -184,958

Finance costs of financial liabilities to others include exchange losses arising on balancing 
financial assets and liabilities.

2.4.24 Income tax expense

   2014 2013

Current tax   236,616  13,725

Deferred tax  -748,342 10,126

Total income tax   511,726 23,851

Loss before tax   -6,120,296 -682,073

Tax accounted  52,020 0

Tax on tax incentives   6,329 0

Tax on income that lower the taxable base  44,429 0

Tax on income that increase the taxable base  10,633 0

Impact of changed tax rate on deferred taxes  0 -8,812

Impact of changed deferred taxes   5,278 10,126

Impact of tax loss on deferred taxes  -733,710 -87,291

Impact of unused incentives relating to deferred taxes  58,541 -2,597

Other  44,754 64,723

Total income tax expense  -511,726 -23,851

Effective tax rate   8.36% 3.50%

2.5 Financial instruments and risk management

Credit risk

In relation to its partners, the Interenergo Group pursues an active credit risk management 
and financial exposure management, which is founded on a consistent implementation of 
internal rules that are adopted by the Kelag Group. The latter comprise well-defined proce-
dures for identifying credit risks and assessing the exposure, for determining the limits of 
exposure and procedures for the ongoing monitoring of Company’s exposure in view of 
individual business partners. 

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Loans granted  8,000 4,000

Investments  460 460

Receivables exclusive of receivables due from state  15,164,204 3,011,132

and advances given

– whereof trade receivables  15,164,204 3,011,132

Cash and cash equivalents  6,360,185 1,971,066

Total   21,532,849 4,986,658

The items of cash and receivables account for the largest share among financial assets expo-
sed to credit risk. 
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in EUR

in EUR

in EUR

in EUR

Loans by maturity as at 31 December 2014

 Gross value 31 Allowance   Gross value  Allowance
 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2013

 
Not past due 8,000 0 4,000 0

Past due up to 20 days 0 0 0 0

Past due from 21 to 50 days 0 0 0 0

Past due from 51 to 180 days 0 0 0 0

Past due over 180 days 0 0 0 0

Total  8,000 0 4,000 0

Receivables by maturity as at 31 December 2014 exclusive of receivables due from 
state and advances given 

 Gross value 31 Allowance   Gross value  Allowance
 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2013

Not past due 15,164,204 0  3,011,132 0 

Past due up to 20 days 0 0 0 0

Past due from 21 to 50 days 0 0 0 0

Past due from 51 to 180 days 0 0 0 0

Past due over 180 days 418,817 418,817 414,951 414,951

Total  15,583,021 418,817 3,426,083 414,951

Movements in allowances for receivables exclusive of receivables due from state and 
advances given

   2014 2013

Balance at 1 January  414,951 1,559,204

Formation of allowances  3,866 0

Write-off of impaired receivables  0 1,144,253

Balance at 31 December  418,817 414,951

Liquidity risk

The Company is engaged in wholesale of electricity, hence the number of customers and 
suppliers is low. Accordingly, the exposure to liquidity risk is well managed and efficiently 
assessed. The exposure limit is defined for each business partner on the basis of its credit 
rating, which is monitored by competent departments on a regular and ongoing basis.
The current market exposure and the payment obligations of business partners are moni-
tored as well. 

Financial liabilities and their maturity

Financial liabilities by maturity are outlined in the table below.
Group’s liabilities by maturity as at 31 December 2014:

in EURk Carrying Total  Past due Past due Past due  Past due 
 amount  from 0 to 6 from 6 to 12 from 1 to 5 over 5 years
   months months years

Non-current borrowings and 19,964 35,791 0 989 3,956 30,845

anticipated interest

Other current borrowings and 0 0 0 0 0 0
anticipated interest

Non-current operating liabilities 2,559 2,559 0 0 457 2,102

Payables to suppliers 14,701 14,701 14,701 0 0 0

Group’s liabilities by maturity as at 31 December 2013:

in EURk Carrying Total  Past due Past due Past due  Past due 
 amount  from 0 to 6 from 6 to 12 from 1 to 5 over 5 years
   months months years

Non-current borrowings and 15,950 29,385 0 790 3,160 25,435

anticipated interest

Other current borrowings 1,701 1,708 1,708 0 0 0
and anticipated interest

Non-current operating liabilities 2,469 2,469 0 0 426 2,043

Payables to suppliers 7,917 7,917 7,917 0 0 0

Interest rate risk 

The Company discloses liabilities under a non-current borrowing bearing a fixed interest rate. 
Changes in reference interest rate fluctuations have no impact on Group’s costs of financing.

Exposure to interest rate risk 
  

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Financial instruments at fixed interest rate    

Loans granted  8,460 4,460

Borrowings   19,964,000 17,270,708

Deposits granted   1,877,131 171,384
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31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

in EUR

 in EUR

in EUR

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed interest rate financial instruments

Non-current borrowings

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current borrowings  19,964,000 15,950,000

– whereof short-term portion  0 0

Average balance of non-current borrowings  17,957,000 15,052,274

Maturity at over 3 years  16,996,400 15,950,000

Structure of non-current borrowings by currency    

– EUR  19,964,000 15,950,000

Structure of non-current borrowings by interest rate    

– variable interest rate  0 0

– fixed interest rate  19,964,000 15,950,000

Current borrowings

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current borrowings including the short-term portion 0 1,700,658

of non-current borrowings

– borrowings from banks  0 1,320,708

– other borrowings  0 379,950

Current borrowings exclusive of short-term portion  0 1,320,708

of non-current borrowings

Interest   537,262 11,898

– EUR  537,262 1,320,708

– fixed interest rate  537,262 1,320,708

Fair value
Investments are in view of their fair value classified as follows:
> Level 1 – assets at market price;
> Level 2 – assets not classified as Level 1, whereas their value is defined directly or indirectly 

on the basis of comparable market data;
> Level 3 – assets whose value does not base on the active market data.

Fair value hierarchy 

 

 

 Book value Level 1 Level 3 Total Book value Level 1 Level 3 Total

Assets measured at fair value             

Cash and cash equivalents 6,360,185 6,360,185 0 6,360,185 1,971,066 1,971,066 0 1,971,066

Assets measured at fair value and disclosed             

Non-current loans granted 8,000 0 8,000 8,000 4,000 0 4,000 4,000

Current loans granted 0  0 0 0 0  0 0 0

Operating  receivables 15,164,204 15,164,204 0 15,164,204 4,656,822 4,656,822 0 4,656,822

Liabilities measured at fair value  and disclosed             

Borrowings and interest 19,964,000 0 19,964,000 19,964,000 17,650,658 0 17,650,658 17,650,658

Trade payables 17,259,744    17,259,744 0 17,259,744 10,851,068 10,851,068 0 10,851,068

2.6 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities recorded by the Group refer to bank and corporate guarantees issued 
to partners for the purpose of electricity trading and institutions in charge of the electricity 
market in the required amount of insurance, as well as for the purpose of implementing 
investments in renewable energy resources. As at the end of 2014, the issued corporate 
guarantees amounted to EUR 16,500,000, whereas the amount of bank guarantees issued 
was recorded at EUR 9,205,562.

2.7 Concessions for hydropower plants

The table below shows the duration of concessions in terms of individual hydropower plants. 
The concession was issued for the period of 30 years with the possibility of its extension by 
15 years. The concession for the Novakovići hydropower plant was issued for 28 years with 
the possibility of extension. The concession fees are defined in advance and on the basis 
of relevant agreements. Each concession is to be accompanied by a bank guarantee. The 
target countries are subjected to political risk, which can have an impact on the concession 
obtained.

Hydropower plant Company Starting date Expiry year  

  

Jelići   Inter - Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje 29 December 2005 2035

Ružnovac  Inter - Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje 16 September 2010 2040

Derala  Inter - Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje 14 March 2012 2042 

Duboki potok   IEP energija d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje 12 January 2006 2036 

Sastavci  IEP energija d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje 29 December 2005 2035

Novakovići  EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka 29 October 2012 2041

Zapeće  EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka presumably 2015 2046 

Medna  LSB Elektrane d.o.o. Banja Luka presumably 2017 2056 

Vrbnica  MHE Vrbnica d.o.o. presumably 2017 2044



79

InterEnergo Annual Report 2014

A c c o u n t i n g  R e p o r t  o f  t h e  I n t e r e n e r g o  G r o u p78 A c c o u n t i n g  R e p o r t  o f  t h e  I n t e r e n e r g o  G r o u p

InterEnergo Annual Report 2014

3 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT2.8 Relates party transactions

The tables below outline the sales and purchases with related entities, which include tran-
sactions with the parent company KI-KELAG and the controlling company Kelag.

SALES  

 Related entity 2014 2013

Sale of electricity KELAG 6,639,420 21,567,775

Services rendered KELAG 142,675 215,899

Services rendered EKO TOPLOTA 8,349 5,514

Total    6,790,444 21,789,188

   
PURCHASES

 Related entity 2014 2013

Purchase of electricity KELAG 13,898,633 19,711,993

Other expenses KELAG 63,989 16,681

Other expenses KI-KELAG   79,432 48,144

Interest on borrowings received KI-KELAG 827,207 779,950

Total   14,869,261 20,556,768

BALANCE OF RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES

 Related entity Balance Balance   
  at 31 Dec 2014 at 31 Dec 2013

Non-current borrowings KI-KELAG   19,964,000 15,950,000

Current trade receivables KELAG 819,557 208,168

Current trade receivables KI-KELAG   8,008 0

Current trade receivables EKO TOPLOTA 3,258 624

Current trade payables  KELAG 1,325,291 2,863,025

Current trade payables KI-KELAG   79,432 0

in EUR

in EUR

in EUR
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VI. 
ACCOUNTING REPORT 

OF INTERENERGO D.O.O.

Human and natural resources are destructive unless 

cultivated. Water is beneficial when we drink it but 

destructive when there is too much of it or when it 

is out of control. Similarly, our colleagues, when they 

cannot realise their potential within the company, 

either leave or cause tension. Aikido teaches us that 

both internal and external forces (potential) must 

be directed so that they benefit not only us but also 

those around us.

The power of potential
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in EUR

in EUR

in EUR

in EUR

1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INTERENERGO D.O.O.

1.1 Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2014

 Note  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

       
ASSETS   53,862,122 45,547,696

Non-current assets   32,899,140 30,538,202

Intangible assets and long-term accrued 2.5.1. 503,375 328,729
and deferred items

Property, plant and equipment 2.5.2. 2,951,700 2,278,898

Non-current investments  2.5.3. 28,301,360 27,415,070

Non-current operating receivables 2.5.4. 16,792 16,793

Deferred tax assets 2.5.5. 1,125,913 498,712

Current assets  20,962,982 15,009,494

Current investments 2.5.6. 275,678 1,178,999

Trade and other receivables 2.5.7. 16,151,564 908,206

Income tax receivables 2.5.8. 6,415 23,331

Cash and cash equivalents 2.5.9. 3,705,832 429,504

Short-term deferred costs and accrued income 2.5.10. 823,493 12,469,454

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  53,862,122 45,547,696

Total equity 2.5.11. 17,802,620 15,371,581

Share capital  10,200,000 10,200,000

Capital surplus  15,450,000 7,950,000

Revenue reserves  95,722 95,721

Retained earnings or losses  -2,874,141 -671,666

Net loss for the period  -5,068,961 -2,202,475

Non-current liabilities 2.5.12. 19,994,165 15,958,934

Non-current financial liabilities  19,964,000 15,950,000

Non-current trade and other payables  30,165 8,934

Current liabilities  16,065,337 14,217,181

Current financial liabilities 2.5.13. 0 1,700,658

Current trade and other payables 2.5.14. 14,068,836 6,603,988

Short-term accrued costs and deferred income 2.5.15. 1,996,501 5,912,535

Total liabilities  36,059,502 30,176,115

   
Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.

1.2 Income Statement for 2014

 Note  2014 2013

Revenue  2.5.16. 152,482,251 167,241,338

Other operating income   1,651 197,728

Costs of goods sold and material used 2.5.17. 2.5.18. -149,657,948 -165,022,200

Costs of services 2.5.19. -773,160 -594,290

Employee benefits expense 2.5.20. -1,389,958 -1,170,110

Write-downs in value 2.5.21. -237,407 -212,915

Other operating expenses 2.5.22. -50,082 -30,314

Operating profit    375,347 409,237

Finance income 2.5.23. 1,654,092 1,057,404

Finance costs 2.5.24. -7,548,542 -3,819,971

Loss from financing activities   -5,894,451 -2,762,568

Loss before tax   -5,519,104 -2,353,331

Income tax expense  2.5.25 450,143 150,855

Loss for the period   -5,068,961 -2,202,476

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial statements.

1.3 Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for 2014

  2014 2013

Loss for the period  -5,068,961 -2,202,475

Total comprehensive income for the period  -5,068,961 -2,202,475

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.

1.4 Statement of Cash Flows for 2014

  2014 2013

A. Cash flows from operating activities   

a) Items of income statement   

Profit or loss before tax  -5,519,104 -2,353,331

Income tax and other taxes not included in operating expenses  450,143 150,856

Adjustments for amortisation / depreciation  233,541 192,660

Adjustments for finance income  -1,654,091 19,908

Adjustments for finance costs  5,083,908 4,126,159

Total items of income statement    -1,405,603 2,136,252

b) Changes in net operating assets – items in the statement of financial position   

Opening less closing trade receivables   -12,974,098 838,389

Opening less closing deferred costs and accrued income        11,645,961 8,777,661

Opening less closing deferred tax assets  -627,202 -161,498

Closing less opening trade payables  5,912,933 3,064,785

Closing less opening accrued costs and deferred income  -3,916,033 -14,878,718
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in EUR

Total items of net operating assets – items in the statement   41,561 -2,359,381
of financial position

Paid tax liabilities  -177,058 -10,643

c) Net cash from operating activities    -1,541,100 -233,772

B. Cash flows from investing activities   

a) Cash proceeds from investing activities    

Interests and dividends received from investing activities  1,649,679 150,879

Cash proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   0 159,414

Cash proceeds from sale of non-current investments   1,765,193 2,417,433

Cash proceeds from sale of current investments  0 4,800,000

Total cash proceeds from investing activities   3,414,872 7,527,726

b) Cash disbursements from investing activities      

Acquisition of intangible assets  -6,021 -30,994

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  -885,411 -22,233

Acquisition of non-current investments  -7,614,891 -11,302,822

Acquisition of current investments  -275,679 0

Total cash disbursements from investing activities   -8,782,002 -11,356,049

c) Net cash used in investing activities   -5,367,130 -3,828,323

C. Cash flows from financing activities   

a) Cash proceeds from financing activities   

Proceeds from paid-in capital   7,500,000 0

Increase in non-current financial liabilities   72,184,000 44,650,000

Increase in current financial liabilities   827,207 2,100,658

Total cash proceeds from financing activities    80,511,207 46,750,658

b) Cash disbursements from financing activities    

Interest paid  -8,734 -51,947

Repayment of non-current financial liabilities   -68,170,000 -42,500,000

Repayment of current financial liabilities   -2,147,915 -754,548

Total cash disbursements from financing activities    -70,326,649 -43,306,495

c)  Net cash used in financing activities   10,184,558 3,444,163

D. Closing balance of cash   

a) Net cash inflow or outflow for the period  3,276,328 -617,932

b) Opening balance of cash  429,504 1,047,436

c) Total closing balance of cash   3,705,832 429,504

      
Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.

1.5 Statement of Changes in Equity for 2014

Financial year 2014 (in EUR) SHARE CAPITAL LEGAL  RETAINED PROFIT OR LOSS TOTAL EQUITY 
 CAPITAL SURPLUS RESERVES EARNINGS OR FOR THE
    LOSSES PERIOD

A.1. Opening balance at 10,200,000 7,950,000 95,722 -2,874,141 0 15,371,581

1 Jan 2014

B1.) Changes in equity  0 7,500,000 0 0 0 7,500,000

– transactions with owners

d) Additional paid-in capital 0 7,500,000 0 0 0 7,500,000

B.2. Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 -5,068,961 -5,068,961

for the period

a) Profit or loss for the period 0 0 0 0 -5,068,961 -5,068,961

B.3. Changes within equity 0 0 0 0 0 0

b) Allocation of part of loss for the 0 0 0 0 0 0

period to other equity components

C. Balance at 31 Dec 2014 10,200,000 15,450,000 95,722 -2,874,141 -5,068,961 17,802,620

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial statements.

1.6 Statement of Changes in Equity for 2013

Financial year 2014 (in EUR) SHARE CAPITAL LEGAL  RETAINED PROFIT OR LOSS TOTAL EQUITY 
 CAPITAL SURPLUS RESERVES EARNINGS OR FOR THE
    LOSSES PERIOD

A.1. Balance at 1 Jan 2013 10,200,000 7,950,000 95,721 -671,665 0 17,574,056

B.2. Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 -2,202,476 -2,202,476

for the period

a) Profit or loss for the period 0 0 0 0 -2,202,476 -2,202,476

B.3. Changes within equity 0 0 0 -2,202,476 2,202,476 0

a) Allocation of part of loss for the 0 0 0 -2,202,476 2,202,476 0

period to other equity components

C. Balance at 31 Dec 2013 10,200,000 7,950,000 95,721 -2,874,141 0 15,371,580

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.

1.7 Statement of Accumulated Loss for 2014

  2014 2013

Los for the period   -5,068,961 -2,202,475

+ retained earnings or losses   -2,874,141 -671,666

= Accumulated loss  -7,943,102 -2,874,141

Accounting policies and notes form a constituent part of the consolidated financial state-
ments.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 OF INTERNERGO D.O.O.

2.1 Reporting entity

Interenergo, energetski inženiring, d.o.o (hereinafter referred to also as ‘Company’) is hea-
dquartered in Slovenia and holds its registered office at Tivolska cesta 48, 1000 Ljubljana. 
Interenergo d.o.o. is an international company that controls and manages the Interenergo 
Group. The Group is present on energy markets of Central and South-Eastern Europe. The 
Group’s core business goal and fundamental responsibility is a safe and business-efficient 
supply of electricity, as well as the implementation of investment-related projects that pro-
mote economically, environmentally and socially responsible exploitation of renewable 
energy sources.

The financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
give a true and fair view of its financial position. 

2.2 Basis of Company’s financial statements

2.2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements were prepared by observing the fundamental acco-
unting assumptions i.e. going concern and accrual basis.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC), as adopted by the European Union, and in accordance with provisions 
of the Slovenian Companies Act.

Given the process of adopting standards in the European Union, no difference in Company’s 
accounting policies exist as at the reporting date between the applied International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the European Union.

The qualitative characteristics of financial statements are understandability, relevance, re-
liability, and comparability. The same accounting policies were applied as in the previous 
reporting period.

2.2.2 Basis of measurement

Assets and liabilities of the Company are upon initial recognition measured at cost. The finan-
cial statements are prepared by applying the historical cost of individual accounting items. 

2.2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in EUR, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
All financial information is presented in euro.

Assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currency are translated to the Company’s functional 
currency as at the reporting date by using the reference exchange rate of the ECB.

2.2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to ac-
counting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected. 

Estimates and judgements primarily refer to:
> estimated useful life of assets,
> impairment of assets.

The Company verifies on an annual basis whether there is indication of impairment of non-
-current assets. The Company carried out impairment testing as at 31 December 2013 and 
31 December 2014 on the basis of the estimated future cash flows for individual cash flow 
generating units. Note 2.5.3 includes key assumptions on which the impairment test was 
founded and led to the impairment of non-current investments.

2.3 Basis of compiling Company’s financial statements

2.3.1 Related parties

Interenergo d.o.o. accounts for following equity interests in subsidiaries, which constitute 
the Interenergo Group:
> Interenergo d.o.o. Zagreb (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana);
> Interenergo d.o.o. Sarajevo (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana);
> PLC Interenergo d.o.o. Beograd (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana);
> Interenergo Makedonia d.o.o.e.l. (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana);
> EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana);
> IEP energija d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf -Uskoplje (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. 

Ljubljana);
> IE Electric d.o.o. Banja Luka (Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana holds a 27% equity interest);
> Inter- Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. 

Ljubljana);
> LSB Elektrane d.o.o. Banja Luka (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana);
> Inter-Hem d.o.o. Banja Luka – in liquidation (in sole ownership (100%) of Interenergo d.o.o. 

Ljubljana
> MHE Vrbnica d.o.o., Podgorica, Montenegro (Interenergo d.o.o. Ljubljana holds a 70% 

equity interest) 

The Company indirectly holds equity interests in following companies:
> Hidrowatt d.o.o. Beograd (PLC Interenergo d.o.o. holds an 80% equity interest).

Financial statements for the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014 were approved 
by the Management Board on 4 June 2015.

Company’s financial statements are available at the registered office of Interenergo d.o.o., 
Tivolska 48, Ljubljana.
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2.3.2 Financial statements

The financial statements include: 
> the statement of financial position which shows the value of assets and liabilities at the 

end of the financial year;
> the income statement which shows revenue and expenses, as well as its profit or loss for 

the financial year;
> the statement of other comprehensive income;
> the statement of cash flows which shows the change in cash over the reporting period;
> the statement of changes in equity which shows changes in equity components in the 

financial year;
> notes that comprise the overview of all significant accounting policies and explanatory 

information.

Theoretically possible items that are not relevant to a specific entity are not presented. 

Accounting policies applied during the compilation of the Company’s financial statements 
equal the policies applied in the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 31 December 
2013, except the newly adopted or amended standards and interpretations that became 
effective as of 1 January 2014 and are outlined below.

Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is a fundamental financial statement showing a true and fair view 
of changes in cash and cash equivalents during a financial year. The statement of cash flows 
is prepared by using the indirect method in accordance with IFRS. The cash flow statement 
includes cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities. Cash flows are generally 
not presented in offset amounts. The statement of cash flows includes data taken from the 
statement of financial position and the income statement by considering also data required 
for the adjustment of inflows and outflows.

Revenue of any type was offset against expenses of any type apart from depreciation or 
amortisation. Instead of these items, profit or loss before tax is included as a new line item 
in cash flows from operating activities. However, profit or loss before tax as well as income 
taxes has been adjusted for depreciation and other non-monetary items, and the items whose 
monetary effects result in cash flows from investing and financing activities. In addition, chan-
ges during the period in net operating assets in items of the statement of financial position 
(including accruals and deferrals) have been taken into account.

Information about major line items (cash receipts and cash payments) of the cash flow sta-
tement has been obtained: 
a) by adjusting operating income and operating expenses, as well as finance income from 

trade receivables and finance costs of trade payables from the income statement, includ-
ing changes in current operating assets, accruals and deferrals, provisions and deferred 
taxes during the period;

b) from the Company’s books of account (regarding cash flows from financing activities).

2.3.3 Newly adopted standards and interpretations

A) Amendments to standards and interpretations

Accounting policies applied during the compilation of Company’s financial statements equal 
the policies applied in the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2013, 
except the newly adopted or amended standards and interpretations that became effective 
as of 1 January 2014 and are outlined below. 

> IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised)
> IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amended) – Offsetting Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities 
> IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
> IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
> IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
> IAS 39 Financial Instruments (amended): Recognition and Measurement - Novation of 

Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
> IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (amended)  – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Fi-

nancial Assets
> IFRIC  21: Levies

The impact of newly adopted standards and interpretations on the Company’s financial 
statements are described below. 

> IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised)
 Standard was amended as a consequence of introducing new standards IFRS 11 ‘Joint 

Arrangements’, IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’, and IAS 28 ‘Investments 
in Associates’, which have been renamed into IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures’. The novated standard has no significant impact on the Company’s financial 
position or performance.

> IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amended) – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

 These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to 
set-off”. The amendments also clarify the application of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to 
settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement 
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The Company is offsetting financial assets and 
financial liabilities pursuant to IAS 32, thus the revised standard has no relevant impact 
on its financial statements. 

> IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
 IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

that addresses consolidated financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in 
SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model 
that applies to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes introduced by 
IFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to determine which 
entities are controlled and therefore are required to be consolidated by the parent, com-
pared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. The revised standard has no significant 
impact on Company’s financial statements. 

> IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
 IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 – Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities 

– Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for 
jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that 
meet the definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the equity method. 
The review of joint arrangements showed that the implementation of the new standard 
hereunder has no impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.  

> IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
 IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 27 related to consoli-

dated financial statements, as well as all of the disclosures that were previously included 
in IAS 28 and IAS 31. These disclosures relate to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are also 
required. The new disclosures required are presented in Note 2.3.1 to the consolidated 
financial statements and Note 2.5.3 to the Company’s financial statements. 
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> IAS 39 Financial Instruments (amended): Recognition and Measurement - Novation 
of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

 Under the amendment there is no need to discontinue hedge accounting if a hedging 
derivative is novated, provided certain criteria are met. A narrow-scope amendment was 
made to IAS 39 to permit the continuation of hedge accounting in certain circumstances 
in which the counterparty to a hedging instrument changes in order to achieve clearing 
for that instrument. The Company records no derivatives, thus the revised standard will 
have no impact on its financial statements.

> IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (amended)  – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for 
Non-Financial Assets) 

 These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the disclosures 
required under IAS 36. In addition, these amendments require disclosure of the recover-
able amounts for the assets or CGUs for which impairment loss has been recognised or 
reversed during the period. The new disclosures required have no impact on the Com-
pany’s disclosures.

> IFRIC 21: Levies
 The Interpretations Committee was asked to consider how an entity should account for 

liabilities to pay levies imposed by governments, other than income taxes, in its financial 
statements. This Interpretation is an interpretation of IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Lia-
bilities and Contingent Assets. IAS 37 sets out criteria for the recognition of a liability, one 
of which is the requirement for the entity to have a present obligation as a result of a past 
event (known as an obligating event). The Interpretation clarifies that the obligating event 
that gives rise to a liability to pay a levy is the activity described in the relevant legislation 
that triggers the payment of the levy. Company’s management is of the opinion that the 
revised standard will have no impact on its financial statements.

B) New standards and interpretations not yet effective 
> IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible assets (Amendment) 

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This 

amendment clarifies the principle in IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS – 38 
Intangible Assets that revenues reflect a pattern of economic benefits that are generated 
from operating a business (which the asset is part of ) rather than the economic benefits 
that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, the ratio of revenues gener-
ated to total revenues expected to be generated cannot be used to depreciate property, 
plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise 
intangible assets. The amendment has not yet been endorsed by the European Union. 
The management assesses that revised standard will have no impact on the Company’s 
financial statements.  

> IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture (Amendment): Bearer 
plants

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
Bearer plants will now be within the scope of IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment 
and will be subject to all of the requirements therein. This includes the ability to choose 
between the cost model and revaluation model for subsequent measurement. Agri-
cultural produce growing on bearer plants (e.g. fruit growing on a tree) will remain 
within the scope of IAS 41 – Agriculture. Government grants relating to bearer plants 
will now be accounted for in accordance with IAS 20 – Accounting for Government 
Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, instead of in accordance with IAS 41. 
The amendment has not yet been endorsed by the European Union. The Company is 
not engaged in the stated activity, hence the revised standard will have no impact on 
its financial statements.

> IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Amended) Employee Contributions
 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2015. 

The amendment applies to contributions from employees or third parties to defined 
benefit plans. The objective of the amendment is to simplify the accounting for contri-
butions that are independent of the number of years of employee service, for example, 
employee contributions that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. The 
management assesses that the amendment hereunder will not have any impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.  

> IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
 The standard is applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 

adoption permitted. The final phase of IFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments 
project and replaces IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and 
all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification 
and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. The standard has not yet been 
endorsed by the European Union. The management of the Company has assessed that 
the amended standard will have no material effect on its financial statements and the 
stated standard will not be applied early.  

> IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (Amendment): Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 
in Joint Operations

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
IFRS 11 addresses the accounting for interests in joint ventures and joint operations. The 
amendment adds new guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in 
a joint operation that constitutes a business in accordance with IFRS and specifies the 
appropriate accounting treatment for such acquisitions. The amendment has not yet been 
endorsed by the European Union. The Management of the Company assesses that the 
amendment will have no impact on its financial statements.  

> IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
 The standard is applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The aim 

of this interim standard is to enhance the comparability of financial reporting by entities 
that are engaged in rate-regulated activities, whereby governments regulate the supply 
and pricing of particular types of activity. This can include utilities such as gas, electricity 
and water. Rate regulation can have a significant impact on the timing and amount of an 
entity’s revenue. The IASB has a project to consider the broad issues of rate regulation and 
plans to publish a Discussion Paper on this subject in due course. Pending the outcome 
of this comprehensive Rate-regulated Activities project, the IASB decided to develop IFRS 
14 as an interim measure. IFRS 14 permits first-time adopters to continue to recognise 
amounts related to rate regulation in accordance with their previous GAAP requirements 
when they adopt IFRS. However, to enhance comparability with entities that already apply 
IFRS and do not recognise such amounts, the standard requires that the effect of rate 
regulation must be presented separately from other items. An entity that already presents 
IFRS financial statements is not eligible to apply the standard. The standard has not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. The Company compiles its financial statements 
already pursuant to IFRSs, thus the revised standard will have no impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 

> IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 The standard is applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. IFRS 15 

establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue earned from a contract with a 
customer (with limited exceptions), regardless of the type of revenue transaction or the 
industry. The standard’s requirements will also apply to the recognition and measurement 
of gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the 
entity’s ordinary activities (e.g. sales of property, plant and equipment or intangibles). 
Extensive disclosures will be required, including disaggregation of total revenue; infor-
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mation about performance obligations; changes in contract asset and liability account 
balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard has not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. Company’s management has assessed that the 
standard will have no material impact on its financial statements.  

> IFRS 27 Separate Financial Statements (Amended)
 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This 

amendment will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements and will 
help some jurisdictions move to IFRS for separate financial statements, reducing compli-
ance costs without reducing the information available to investors. The standard has not 
yet been endorsed by the European Union. Company’s management has assessed that 
the amended standard will have no impact on its financial statements.  

> IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture

 The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in 
IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associate or a joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments 
is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it 
is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a sub-
sidiary. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. Company’s 
management has assessed that the revised standards will have no impact on its financial 
statements.  

Annual improvements to IFRS in the 2010-2012 cycle
 The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – 2012 Cycle, which is a 

collection of amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 February 2015. The management of the Company has assessed 
that the amendments will have no material impact on its financial statements.  

> FRS 2 Share-based Payment: This improvement amends the definitions of ‘vesting con-
dition’ and ‘market condition’ and adds definitions for ‘performance condition’ and ‘service 
condition’ (which were previously part of the definition of ‘vesting condition’).

> IFRS 3 Business combinations: This improvement clarifies that contingent consideration 
in a business acquisition that is not classified as equity is subsequently measured at fair 
value through profit or loss whether or not it falls within the scope of IFRS 9 – Financial 
Instruments.

> IFRS 8 Operating Segments: This improvement requires an entity to disclose the 
judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria to operating 
segments and clarifies that an entity shall only provide reconciliations of the total of 
the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets if the segment assets are reported 
regularly.

> IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: This improvement in the Basis of Conclusion of IFRS 13 
clarifies that issuing IFRS 13 and amending IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not remove the ability to 
measure short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rate at their invoice 
amounts without discounting if the effect of not discounting is immaterial.

> IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: The amendment clarifies that when an item 
of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a 
manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount.

> IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures: The amendment clarifies that an entity providing key 
management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting 
entity is a related party of the reporting entity.

>  IAS 38 Intangible Assets: The amendment clarifies that when an intangible asset is 
revalued the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the 
revaluation of the carrying amount.  

Annual improvements to IFRS in the 2011-2013 cycle
 The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011 – 2013 cycle, which is a 

collection of amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The management of the Company has assessed 
that the amendments will have no material impact on its financial statements.  

>  IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: This 
improvement clarifies that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a 
new standard that is not yet mandatory, but that permits early application, provided either 
standard is applied consistently throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first IFRS 
financial statements.

>  IFRS 3 Business combinations: This improvement clarifies that IFRS 3 excludes from its 
scope the accounting for the formation of a joint arrangement in the financial statements 
of the joint arrangement itself.

>  IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: This improvement clarifies that the scope of the 
portfolio exception defined in paragraph 52 of IFRS 13 includes all contracts accounted 
for within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, regardless of whether they meet the definition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities as defined in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

>  IAS 40 Investment Properties: This improvement clarifies that determining whether a 
specific transaction meets the definition of both a business combination as defined in 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations and investment property as defined in IAS 40 Investment 
Property requires the separate application of both standards independently of each other. 

Annual improvements to IFRS in the 2012-2014 cycle 
 The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 cycle, which is a 

collection of amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. These amendments have not yet been endorsed 
by the European Union. The management of the Company has assessed that the amend-
ments will have no material impact on its financial statements.  

>  IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: The amend-
ment clarifies that changing from one of the disposal methods to the other (through 
sale or through distribution to the owners) should not be considered to be a new plan of 
disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is therefore no interruption of 
the application of the requirements in IFRS 5. The amendment also clarifies that changing 
the disposal method does not change the date of classification.

>  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendment clarifies that a servicing 
contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset. 
Also, the amendment clarifies that the IFRS 7 disclosures relating to the offsetting of fi-
nancial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial 
report.

>  IAS 19 Employee Benefits: The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality 
corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denom-
inated, rather than the country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep 
market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must 
be used.

>  IAS 34 Interim financial reporting: The amendment clarifies that the required interim 
disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-ref-
erence between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within 
the greater interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). 
The Board specified that the other information within the interim financial report must 
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be available to users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and at the 
same time. If users do not have access to the other information in this manner, then the 
interim financial report is incomplete. 

> IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Excep-
tion (amendments)

 The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The 
amendments address three issues arising in practice in the application of the investment 
entities consolidation exception. The amendments clarify that the exemption from pre-
senting consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary 
of an investment entity, when the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair 
value. Also, the amendments clarify that only a subsidiary that is not an investment entity 
itself and provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. All other 
subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. Finally, the amendments 
to IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when applying 
the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity 
associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries. These amendments have not yet 
been endorsed by the European Union. The management of the Company has assessed 
that the amendments will have no material impact on the financial statements.

> IAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative (Amendment)
 The amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements further encourage 

companies to apply professional judgement in determining what information to disclose 
and how to structure it in their financial statements. The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The narrow-focus amendments to 
IAS clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments 
relate to materiality, order of the notes, subtotals and disaggregation, accounting policies 
and presentation of items of other comprehensive income (OCI) arising from equity ac-
counted Investments. These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the European 
Union. The management of the Company has assessed that the amendments will have 
no material impact on the financial statements.  

2.4 Summary of fundamental accounting policies

Individual categories presented below are in compliance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, which include statutory disclosures and significant matters. The ac-
counting policies applied and the nature and level of disclosures’ materiality are defined in 
company’s internal rules and regulations. All significant amounts presented in the financial 
statements are accompanied by comparable information for the previous year, inclusive of 
details in terms of figures and notes. Comparable data is adjusted as to comply with the 
presentation of information in the current year. 

Accounting policies that are outlined below were consistently applied in all periods, which 
are outlined in the financial statements.

Intangible assets and long-term deferred costs and accrued income
Intangible assets include long-term industrial rights, which comprise also rights relating to 
easement of roofs, where the solar power plants are installed. Long-term deferred costs and 
accrued income comprise long-term deferred costs and expenses.

An intangible asset shall be recognised if it is probable that the expected future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and that the cost of the as-
set can be measure reliably. An item of intangible assets is initially measured at cost. Upon 
initial recognition, intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses in compliance with the cost model applied. 

An asset meets the identifiability criterion in the definition of an intangible asset when it:
>  is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from the entity and sold, trans-

ferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with a related con-
tract, asset or liability; or

>  arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are trans-
ferable or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

The straight-line method of amortisation is applied with intangible assets. Amortisation shall 
begin when the intangible asset with finite useful life is available for use. The depreciable 
amount of an intangible asset with finite useful life shall be allocated with regard to its rea-
sonably assessed useful life. The useful life and the method of amortisation are reviewed at 
each year-end.

The recognition of an intangible asset shall be reversed and eliminated from the books of 
account on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its further use 
and subsequent disposal.

In the books of account an intangible asset shall be carried at its cost, accumulated deprecia-
tion and accumulated impairment losses shall be recorded separately; in the statement of fi-
nancial position, however, intangible assets are disclosed exclusively at their carrying amount.

Property, plant and equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised as an asset in the books of ac-
count if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Upon initial recognition, the cost of 
an asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase 
duties less any discounts and rebates, and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset 
to the condition necessary for its intended use and management’s expectations. Subsequent 
expenditure on an item of property, plant and equipment increases its cost if it increases its 
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed. An item of property, plant and 
equipment is upon initial recognition recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment loss in compliance with the cost model applied. 

According to Company’s estimate, no major costs shall be incurred during the dismantling 
and removing of property, plant and equipment that would require being included in the 
cost. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated individually, using the straight-line 
method without considering the residual value.

In 2013 and 2014, the Company applied following depreciation rates:
 
 

Solar power plants   6.67-8.89 %

Computer and computer software   50 %

Other equipment   20 %

An item of property, plant and equipment shall be derecognised in the books of account 
on its disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
Difference between the profit on disposal and the carrying amount of the disposed item of 
property, plant and equipment is included in the income statement.

As for the books of account, the cost is disclosed separately and the same applies to accumu-
lated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, whereas the statement of financial 
position discloses solely the carrying amount.
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Financial instruments
 
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, 
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade 
and other payables.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
An instrument is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is de-
signated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instruments are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss if the Company manages such investments and makes purchase and 
sale decisions based on their fair value and in accordance with the investment strategy. 
Upon initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when 
incurred. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, 
and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management 
are included in the statement of cash flows as a component of cash and cash equivalents. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 
Loans and receivables include loans granted, as well as trade and other receivables. Cash and 
cash equivalents include cash in hand and sight deposits. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amo-
unts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

Accounting of finance income and costs is discussed within the accounting policies under 
‘Finance income and finance costs’.

Investments in subsidiaries
Non-current investments in equity of a subsidiary are valued at cost. Participation in profit of a 
subsidiary is recognised in the profit or loss of the controlling company, when the latter acqui-
res the right to profit distribution. If the subsidiary records loss and the relevant investment 
requires being impaired, the loss is due to impairment measured as the difference between 
the carrying amount of the investment and the present value of expected future cash flows.

Impairment of assets

Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objec-
tive evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference 
to its current fair value.
Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining 
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets and deferred tax assets are re-
viewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce 
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. In respect of other assets, impairment 
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impa-
irment loss had been recognised in the previous periods.

Short-term accruals and deferrals
Deferred costs and accrued revenue include short-term deferred costs or expenses and 
short-term accrued revenue. 

Short-term deferred costs comprise amounts incurred but not yet charged against the 
Group’s activity. Short-term accrued revenue arises when payments have not been received 
and invoices could not have been issued, but where an entity has good reasons to include 
the revenue in its profit or loss.

Accrued costs and deferred revenue comprise short-term accrued costs and expenses and 
short-term deferred revenue. 

Accrued costs consist of expenses that are expected, but related invoices were not yet rece-
ived and refer to the period for which the income statement is prepared. Short-term defer-
red revenue arises when services to be rendered in the future have already been invoiced. 
Revenue can be deferred when eligibility for its recognition is doubtful at the date of sale. 

Equity 
Total equity comprises called-up capital, capital surplus (share premium), revenue reserves, 
and retained earnings or retained losses from previous periods.
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Total comprehensive income for the period consists of the profit or loss for the period and 
other comprehensive income that includes items of income and expenses not recognised 
in profit or loss.

Revenue 
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising in course of the 
ordinary activities of an entity when those inflows result in increases in equity, other than 
increases relating to contributions from equity participants.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
entity and these benefits can be measured reliably. Revenue arises on the sale products, 
rendering of services and use of entity’s assets at others that result in interest and dividends.

The item of revenue includes operating income and finance income. The item of operating 
income comprises revenue from sale of electricity and electrical capacities and other opera-
ting income associated with products and services. 

Revenue shall be recognised when the entity has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably when it is 
probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and 
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

The Company is engaged in wholesale of electricity. Revenue generated on sale of electricity 
is recognised when the electricity is supplied to the wholesale dealer and the contractually 
agreed place of supply, and all the risks are transferred from seller to buyer.

Finance income is income from investing activities. Finance income arise in association with 
investments and receivables. Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, 
dividend income, gains on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in fair value 
of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, and exchange gains arising 
on financing activities. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the 
effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the 
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities 
is the ex-dividend date.

Expenses
Expenses shall be recognised if decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period 
are associated with decreases in assets or increases in liabilities and such decreases can be 
measured reliably. Expenses are classified as operating expenses, finance costs and other 
costs. Operating expenses and finance costs are ordinary expenses. 

The Company is engaged in wholesale of electricity. Operating expenses are recognised 
when the electricity is received at the contractually agreed place of supply, and all the risks 
are transferred from seller to buyer.

Revaluation operating expenses arise in connection with current assets as a result of their 
impairment.

Finance costs include costs of financing and costs of investing. The former primarily comprise 
interest paid, while the latter primarily refer to revaluation finance costs. Finance costs compri-
se borrowing costs, exchange losses from financing activities, changes in fair value of financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, and impairment losses on financial assets 
that are recognised in income statement. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to 
the acquisition of a qualifying asset in construction or production are recognised in income 
statement using the effective interest method. 

Operating lease
Lease is defined as operating lease if the company transfers all risks and benefits of the owner-
ship. Rentals under the operating lease are recognised as cost in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. If the operating lease contract is terminated prior to the 
expiration of the lease term, each lease payment required by the lessor as a penalty for the 
breach of contract is recorded as expense in the period in which the contract is terminated.

Employee benefits
The employee benefits include employment benefits such as wages and social security 
contributions, annual and sick leave, vacation bonus, non-monetary benefits such as medical 
care, accommodation, use of company cars and other bonuses, and voluntary supplementary 
pension insurance. 

Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised 
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in compre-
hensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
financial years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the financial position liability method providing for tempo-
rary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the 
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred 
tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of 
goodwill. The amount of deferred tax bases on the expected way of settling the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if there is legal right to offset current tax assets 
with current income tax liabilities and the deferred tax relates to the same taxable person 
and the same tax body.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

Operating profit or loss 
Operating profit or loss is defined as profit before tax and items from financing activity. 
Items from financing activity include interest on bank balances, deposits, available-for-sale 
investments, interest on borrowings, gains or losses from sale of available-for-sale financial 
instruments, and exchange gains and losses arising on translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities expressed in foreign currencies.

Fair value
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset the entity must take into account the 
counterpart’s ability to generate economic benefits by the best possible use of the asset or 
its sale to the another counterpart on the market that shall use the asset at its best.

The Company applies valuation methods that are adequate in given circumstances and for 
which sufficient information exists, in particular by using proper market input data and a 
minimum use of non-market data.
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Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed in the financial statements at fair value are clas-
sified pursuant to the fair value hierarchy on the basis of the lowest level of input data that 
are significant for measuring the whole fair value:

Level 1 – market prices (unadjusted) on the active market for similar assets and liabilities 
Level 2 – valuation model that is directly or indirectly founded on market data. 
Level 3 – valuation model that is founded on market data. 

As for assets and liabilities that were recognised in the financial statements already in previous 
periods, the entity establishes at the end of each period whether any level-related changes 
occurred and thereby reviews the classification of assets by taking into account the lowest 
level of input data  that are significant for measuring the whole fair value.
Fair value hierarchy in view of Company’s assets and liabilities is laid down in Note 2.6.

2.5 Notes to the financial statements of Interenergo d.o.o.

2.5.1 Intangible assets (IA) and long-term deferred costs and accrued income
    

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 

 

Intangible assets and long-term deferred  503,375 328,729 

costs and accrued income 

1. Long-term industrial property rights   294,558 324,248

2. Long-term deferred costs and accrued income  9,298 4,481 

3. Intangible assets being acquired   199,519 0 

 

Long-term industrial rights include two easements, which were extended for the period of 15 
years for installing solar power plants on the Martex building in the amount of EUR 111,561 
(31 December 2013: EUR 120,433) and the Mura building in the amount of EUR 160,274 (31 
December 2013: EUR 172,614), while the item of intangible assets being acquired refers to 
the launch of the new trading system.

Movements in intangible assets and long-term deferred costs and accrued income in 2014

 Long-term Long-term IA being Total 
 deferred costs industrial acquired

 and accrued property
 income rights

  
1. Cost       

Balance at 1 Jan 2014 4,481 383,685 0 388,166

Additions  4,817 10,021 199,519 214,357

Balance at 31 Dec 2014 9,298 393,706 199,519 602,523

2. Accumulated amortisation        

Balance at 1 Jan 2014 0 59,437 0 59,437

Amortisation 0 39,711 0 39,711

Balance at 31 Dec 2014 0 99,148 0 99,148

3. Carrying amount        

Balance at 1 Jan 2014 4,481 324,248 0 328,729

Balance at 31 Dec 2014 9,298 294,558 199,519 503,375

Movements in intangible assets and long-term deferred costs and accrued income in 2013
  
        

 Long-term Long-term IA being Total 
 deferred costs industrial acquired

 and accrued property
 income rights

1. Cost        

Balance at 1 Jan 2013 7,820 352,690 71,890 432,400

Additions 0 30,995 0 30,995

Disposals -3,339 0               -71,890 -75,229

Balance at 31 Dec 2013 4,481 383,685 0 388,166

2. Accumulated amortisation        

Balance at 1 Jan 2013 0 37,442 0 37,442

Amortisation 0 21,995 0 21,995

Balance at 31 Dec 2013 0 59,437 0 59,437

3. Carrying amount        

Balance at 1 Jan 2013 7,820 315,248 71,890 394,958

Balance at 31 Dec 2013 4,481 324,248 0 328,729

2.5.2 Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Property, plant and equipment  2,951,700 2,278,898

1. Production plant and equipment  2,855,067 2,240,344

2. Other plant and equipment  96,637 38,554

Movements in property, plant and equipment in 2014
    

 

 Other plant Solar power Total 
 and equipment plants

1. Cost      

Balance at 1 Jan 2014 77,247 2,428,760 2,506,007

Additions 73,568 793,064 866,632

Balance at 31 Dec 2014 150,815 3,221,824 3,372,639

2. Accumulated depreciation   

Balance at 1 Jan 2014 38,693 188,416 227,109

Depreciation 15,489 178,341 193,830

Balance at 31 Dec 2014 54,182 366,757 420,939

3. Carrying amount   

Balance at 1 Jan 2014 38,554 2,240,344 2,278,898

Balance at 31 Dec 2014 96,632 2,855,067 2,951,700

in EUR

in EUR
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Movements in property, plant and equipment in 2013
        

 Other plant Solar power Total 
 and equipment plants

1. Cost     

 Balance at 1 Jan 2013 55,015 2,588,174 2,643,189

Additions 22,232 0 22,232

Disposals  0 -159,414 -159,414

Balance at 31 Dec 2013 77,247 2,428,760 2,506,007

2. Accumulated depreciation    

Balance at 1 Jan 2013 30,026 26,418 56,444

Depreciation 8,667 161,998 170,665

Balance at 31 Dec 2013 38,693 188,416 227,109

3. Carrying amount 

Balance at 1 Jan 2013 24,989 2,561,756 2,586,745

Balance at 31 Dec 2013 38,554 2,240,344 2,278,898

The item of production plant includes the solar power plant in Volčja Draga on the Martex 
building, the solar power plant on the Mura building in Murska Sobota, and the solar power 
plants acquired in 2014 and located in Trebnje, Limbuš and Lendava. The Martex building 
was set up also a transformer station in the amount of EUR 51,819.
As at the reporting date, the carrying amount of the solar power plant on Martex building is 
recorded at EUR 797,344 (2013: EUR 860,307) and EUR 1,281,002 of the solar power plant on 
the Mura building (2013: EUR 1,379,597). The carrying amount of power plants acquired in 
2014 is recorded at EUR 776,722 as at 31 December 2014.

All solar stations are secured and not under mortgage. 

The item of other plant and equipment refers to computer and office equipment

2.5.3 Non-current investments

Investments in subsidiaries and associates

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Investments in subsidiaries and associates  11,830,869 10,297,070

Investments in subsidiaries  11,830,409 10,296,610

Investments in associated entities  460 460

  

Company’s non-current investments comprise following subsidiaries:
    

  

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

EHE d.o.o., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina  6,110,215 3,733,188

Interenergo d.o.o., Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina  399,105 399,105

IEP energija d.o.o., Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje,   3,739,794 3,989,489
Bosnia and Herzegovina

IE electric d.o.o., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina  460 460

LSB Elektrane d.o.o., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina  400,000 400,000

Inter Hem d.o.o. – in liquidation, Banja Luka,   0 0
Bosnia and Herzegovina

Inter – Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf -Uskoplje, Gornji Vakuf,   1,165,682 1,022
Bosnia and Herzegovina 

Interenergo d.o.o., Zagreb, Croatia  0 0

Interenergo Macedonia d.o.o. e.l., Macedonia  8,613 8,613

PLC Interenergo d.o.o., Beograd, Serbia  0 1,765,193

MHE Vrbnica d.o.o., Podgorica, Montenegro  7,000 0

Total  11,830,869 10,297,070

 

Investments in associates  

  Total equity Profit or loss 
  at 31 Dec 2014 for 2014

EHE d.o.o., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina  6,110,216 -5,599,213

Interenergo d.o.o., Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina  318,490 -192,810

IEP energija d.o.o., Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje,   3,739,794 -257,480
Bosnia and Herzegovina

LSB Elektrane d.o.o., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina  -118,685 -48,312

Inter Hem d.o.o. – in liquidation, Banja Luka,   -281 14,078
Bosnia and Herzegovina

Inter – Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf -Uskoplje, Gornji Vakuf,   1,165,682 -549,666
Bosnia and Herzegovina

Interenergo d.o.o., Zagreb, Croatia  167,038 98,838

Interenergo Macedonia d.o.o. e.l., Macedonia  -63,380 37,153

PLC Interenergo d.o.o., Beograd, Serbia  779,911 64,354

MHE Vrbnica d.o.o., Podgorica, Montenegro  8,017 -1,983

As at 31 December 2014, the Company carried out a valuation of individual hydropower 
plants and established that their book value exceeds their recoverable amount and con-
sequently recognised impairment losses. The estimate was calculated by applying the disco-
unted future cash flow method. Assumptions used in the relevant calculation include (i) the 
anticipated revenue from sale of electricity which was assessed on the basis of hydrological 
duration curves, (ii) the estimated value of investments in small hydropower plants, (iii) the 
duration of concession, (iv) share of the concession fee and structure of other operating 
expenses (i.e. industrial standard which is combined with the historical analysis on other 
comparable power plants owned by the Group). The discount rate was applied and calculated 
as the weighted average cost of capital for investments made in small hydropower plants, 
taking account also of the government’s risk. 

The investments in the hydropower plants in Bosnia and Herzegovina were made by applying 
the DBOT business model (Design, Build, Operate, Transfer). This indicates that the duration 
of the concession period is defined as from the date of signing the concession contract (in 
the Republika Srpska) or completing the planning and construction of the hydropower plant 

in EUR

in EUR

in EUR
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(in Bosnia and Herzegovina), whereby producers of green electricity can choose between 
the ensured feed-in tariff (grants) or the operating grant at concurrent sale of energy on 
the market. Upon the lapse of the concession period, the hydropower plant’s ownership is 
planned to be transferred to the concession provider, although the concession period may 
be prolonged. The producer starts to sell electricity under market conditions not later than 
once the period for paying out grants for producing green electricity expires.

Group’s investment-related decisions are based on the assumption that the investor shall for 
electricity produced receive the feed-in tariff in the starting period; at a later stage, market 
prices will be applied once they exceed the feed-in tariff. The withdrawal from the grants 
system is anticipated at a later stage due to lower estimated market prices. The previously 
mentioned development triggered the need for impairing the investment.

Value of investments is assessed by using the method of discounted cash flows that were 
determined in compliance with the duration of the concession period. With power plants 
starting operations in different time frames, a period of up to 2056 is taken into account.

The recoverable amount is based on following assumptions:
>  electricity produced on an annual level equals the estimated production volume as 

confirmed by competent bodies;
>  at beginning, feed-in tariffs were defined as prices for electricity produced. Transition 

to electricity’s price on the market, whose amount is estimated by the Pöyry study for 
individual countries, will be conducted after the market prices of electricity exceed the 
feed-in tariff and not later than by the expiry of the feed-in tariff period;

>  operating costs (case-dependent) result from the industrial standard and historical data 
for the 2012 – 2014 period; 

>  the duration of the project equals the concession’s duration;
>  weighted average cost of capital (WACC) before tax was applied and calculated at 8.73% 

for the operation of power plants in Bosnia and Herzegovina. WACC before tax is 9.38%.

In accordance with the analysis conducted, investments had to be impaired in EHE d.o.o. 
Banja Luka (EUR 5,622,972), in IEP Energija d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje (EUR 249,695) and in 
Inter –Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf - Uskoplje (EUR 835,341).

Movement of investments in subsidiaries and associates: 

in EUR Value at  Additional Impairment Value at
 1 Jan 2013 payments/  31 Dec 2013
  disbursements

Interenergo Zagreb d.o.o. 0 0 0 0

Interenergo Makedonija d.o.o.e.l. 8,613 0 0 8,613

PLC Interenergo d.o.o. 582,626 1,182,567 0 1,765,193

Interenergo Sarajevo d.o.o. 399,105 0 0 399,105

IEP Energija d.o.o.  3,989,489 0 0 3,989,489
Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje

Inter-Energo d.o.o.  1,023 0 0 1,023

Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje

EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka 1,620,000 5,000,000 -2,886,813 3,733,187

LSB Elektrane d.o.o. Banja Luka 400,000 0 0 400,000

Inter-Hem d.o.o. – in liquidation,  100,000 0 -100,000 0
Banja Luka

IE electric d.o.o., Banja Luka 460 0 0 460

TOTAL 7,101,316 6,182,567 -2,986,813 10,297,070

in EUR Value at  Additional Impairment Value at
 1 Jan 2014 payments/  31 Dec 2014
  disbursements

Interenergo Zagreb d.o.o. 0 0 0 0

Interenergo Makedonija d.o.o.e.l. 8,613 0 0 8,613

PLC Interenergo d.o.o. 1,765,193 -1,765,193 0 0

Interenergo Sarajevo d.o.o. 399,105 0 0 399,105

IEP Energija d.o.o.  3,989,489 0 -249,695 3,739,794
Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje

Inter-Energo d.o.o.  1023 2,000,000 -835,341 1,165,682
Gornji Vakuf-Uskoplje

EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka 3,733,187 8,000,000 -5,622,972 6,110,215

LSB Elektrane d.o.o. Banja Luka 400,000 0 0 400,000

Inter-Hem d.o.o. – in liquidation,  0 0 0 0
Banja Luka

IE electric d.o.o., Banja Luka 460 0 0 460

MHE Vrbnica d.o.o., Podgorica 0 7,000 0 7,000

TOTAL 10,297,070 8,241,807 -6,708,008 11,830,869

Loans granted

    

  

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

 

Non-current loans  16,470,490 17,118,000

Non-current loans to Group companies  16,462,490 17,114,000

Non-current companies to associated entities  8,000 4,000

 

Non-current loans were extended to subsidiaries and bear interest at the market interest 
rate. The loan extended to the company Interhem d.o.o., Banja Luka was impaired in the 
amount of EUR 24,000.

In 2014, new contracts on non-current loans were concluded with companies EHE d.o.o., 
Banja Luka, Interenergo d.o.o., Sarajevo, Interenergo d.o.o., Zagreb, Interenergo Makedonija 
d.o.o.e.l., LBS Elektrarne d.o.o. Banja Luka, Interhem d.o.o. – in liquidation, Banja Luka, Inter-
-Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf –Uskoplje, and IE electric d.o.o., Banja Luka.

Non-current loans granted are not exposed to interest rate risk as the loans bear fixed in-
terest rates and are thus not impacted by interest rate fluctuations. The interest rate risk is 
normally accompanied also by credit risk in terms of debtor’s failure to settle his liabilities. 
Loans granted are not used as collateral for Company’s liabilities. The requirement for impai-
ring the loans was assessed together with the investment impairment testing in view of the 
discounted future cash flows.
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2.5.4 Non-current operating receivables

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current operating receivables  16,792 16,793

Operating receivables due from third parties  16,792 16,793

Operating receivables are classified in terms of long-term collaterals provided for the lease 
of business premises, which amounted to EUR 16,792 as at the reporting date. 

2.5.5 Deferred tax assets

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Deferred tax assets arising on  1,125,913 498,711

tax losses  87,291 87,291

impairment of trade receivables  77,405 76,535

impairment of investments  900,079 332,288

transferred unutilised tax incentives  61,138 2,597

Deferred tax assets increased in 2014 as a result of tax non-deductible expenses associated 
with impairment of investments and due to transferred unused tax incentives for solar power 
plants acquired.

The net effect of the deferred tax assets in the financial year amounted to EUR 627,201.

2.5.6 Current investments

  

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current investments  275,679 1,178,999 

Interest receivables from loans  275,679 1,178,999

Current loans granted are not exposed to interest rate risk, as the interest rates are fixed and 
thus not exposed to interest rate fluctuations. In addition to the interest rate risk, loans are 
generally exposed to credit risk in terms that the debtor shall not settle his liabilities.

2.5.7 Trade and other receivables

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Trade receivables   16,151,564 908,206

Current trade receivables due from customers  16,130,490 597,058

-       domestic market  3,179,761 132,617

-       foreign markets  9,302,074 419,593

-       current trade receivables due from Group companies  4,067,472 459,799

Allowances for current receivables   -418,817 -414,951

Current trade receivables due from others  0 1,295

Advances to domestic companies  1,538 246,320

Advances to foreign companies  18,836 62,833

Collaterals granted  700 700

Company’s current trade receivables include receivables due from customers, advances 
paid for trading at the energy stock exchange, advances paid to domestic companies and 
advances paid in connection with future investments.

Current receivables due from Group companies refer in the amount of EUR 819,557 to re-
ceivables due from the parent company Kelag (31 December 2013: EUR 208,168) and in the 
amount of EUR 3,247,915 to Interenergo Group companies (31 December 2013: EUR 251,631). 

Advances and other assets include advance payments made for trading at the energy stock 
exchange, advances paid to domestic companies and short-term collaterals granted.

In 2014, the Company formed allowances for receivables in the amount of EUR 3,866.

The Company records no receivables due from members of the Management Board, the 
Supervisory Board and internal owners as at 31 December 2014 nor as at 31 December 2013.

2.5.8 Income tax receivables

 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Income tax receivables  6,415 23,331

 

2.5.9 Cash and cash equivalents

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Cash and cash equivalents  3,705,832 429,504

Bank balances  128,843 2,464

Cash on electricity trading bank accounts  1,699,858 255,656

Short-term deposits  1,877,131 171,384

The Company has the option to use a bank overdraft at the UniCredit banka d.d. in the 
amount of EUR 1.5m.
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2.5.10 Short-term deferred costs and accrued income 

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Short-term deferred costs and accrued income  823,493 12,469,454

Short-term deferred costs and expenses   138,762 26,745

Accrued income on electricity sold   496,042 12,426,892

Other accrued income   188,689 15,817

At the end of 2014, the Company recorded revenue from sales in December not invoiced 
yet. As a rule, the Company issues an invoice to its customers at the beginning of the month 
following the sale, and the due date is generally on the 20th day of the following month 
(pursuant to the EFET standard contract). In early 2015, the Company reorganised so that 
invoices for electricity sold as at 31 December 2014 could be issued and booked in the first 
week, which resulted in a material decline in scope and value of booked deferred costs and 
accrued income.

Accrued income refers to sales generated on the domestic market and abroad, and to sales 
to Group companies in December 2014. Accruals were made on the basis of the past trading 
results recorded by the trading system.

Short-term deferred costs refer to the purchased capacities, annual subscriptions and insu-
rances.

2.5.11 Equity

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Equity   17,802,620 15,371,581

Share capital  10,200,000 10,200,000

Capital surplus   15,450,000 7,950,000

Revenue reserves   95,722 95,722

Retained loss from previous period  -7,943,102 -2,874,141

Revenue reserves refer entirely to legal reserves and were formed on the basis of profit for 
2007 and decreased by the coverage of retained losses in 2006 (EUR 5,998 less EUR 236 
equals EUR 5,762), and profit for 2008 (EUR 89,959). Profits for 2010 and 2011 were used for 
the coverage of retained losses from previous periods.

In 2014, additional capital surplus of EUR 7,500,000 was paid in, which is earmarked partly for 
financing the working capital used in electricity trading and partly for financing the subsidi-
aries, where investments in renewable energy resources were being carried out.

Taking into account the revaluation of the opening balance of equity (EUR 15,371,581), re-
stated by the use of the cost-of-living index (2014: 0.2%), equity should have been increased 
by EUR 30,743 to account for maintaining its purchasing power (opening balance of equity 
* % of cost-of-living index). Thus, the adjusted result for the period would correspond to EUR 
–5,099,704  (result for the period less increase in equity) ((opening balance of equity * % of 
cost-of-living index) +/- profit or loss for the period.

 

2.5.12 Non-current liabilities

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current financial liabilities  19,964,000 15,950,000

Non-current operating liabilities  30,165 8,934

Non-current financial liabilities to Group companies refer to the borrowing from the parent 
company KI-KELAG International GmbH in the amount of EUR 19,964,000. The relevant bor-
rowing, which was extended at the market interest rate, is not secured and matures at the 
end of 2030. The borrowing is earmarked for financing of investments is renewable energy 
sources and primarily for small hydropower plants. Non-current operating liabilities include 
long-term accrued costs and deferred income in connection with remuneration paid for 
Company’s employees.

2.5.13 Current financial liabilities

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current financial liabilities   0 1,700,658

Financial liabilities to the parent company  0 379,950

Financial liabilities to banks  0 1,320,708

Financial liabilities to banks include in 2013 the negative balance on the bank account. The 
Company was approved a bank overdraft on the trading account opened with the UniCredit 
banka d.d. in the amount of EUR 1.5m. At the end of 2014, the Company does not disclose 
a negative balance on the bank account.

Financial liabilities to the parent company refer to the interest payable on the borrowing from 
KI-KELAG that were paid in December 2014.

2.5.14 Current trade and other payables

   31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current trade payables   14,068,836 6,603,988

Current trade payables to suppliers  13,751,951 5,673,757

-       domestic market  1,478,669 641,797

-       foreign markets  7,466,668 2,168,773

-       current trade payables to Group companies  4,806,615 2,863,187

Payables from advances  0 281,000

Other trade payables  316,885 649,231

-      tax payables  220,227 558,542

-      trade payables to employees and the state  96,657 90,689

Payables to suppliers increased over the previous year as most of the invoices for electricity 
purchased in December were received this year.
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2.5.15 Short-term accrued costs and deferred income

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Short-term accrued costs and deferred income   1,996,501 5,912,535

Accrued costs  215,843 46,589

Accrued costs of purchasing electricity   1,624,938 5,798,511

Accrued costs of wages and salaries  153,796 67,435

Deferred income   1,924 0

Accrued costs of purchasing electricity have decreased over 2013 as a result of invoices 
received for electricity. Consequently, liabilities are higher. 

2.5.16 Revenue and other operating income

 

   2014  2013

  

Operating income  152,483,902 167,439,066

Income on electricity trading  151,027,340 165,812,780 

Revenue from sale of electricity  360,801 289,555

Revenue from sale of services  1,094,110 1,139,003 

Other operating income  1,651 197,728 

 

    

   

   2014  2013

  

Revenue   152,482,251 167,241,001 

Revenue from sales – Slovenia   31,393,698 39,242,638 

Revenue from sales – EU (exclusive of Slovenia)  117,241,924 123,843,433 

Revenue from sales on non-EU markets  3,846,629 4,154,930 

 

In 2014, the Company generated EUR 15,907,398 (2013: EUR 17,550,489) of revenue from 
Group companies and EUR 6,782,096 of revenue with the Kelag parent company (2013: EUR 
21,783,674). Revenue from sale of services refer to trading and charging of engineer super-
vision services rendered during the construction of small hydropower plants. 

 
2.5.17 Costs of goods sold and material used 

  2014 2013

Costs of goods sold   -149,596,420 -164,970,993

- costs of electricity sold   -145,040,205 -162,548,423

- costs of capacities  -4,082,634 -2,060,882

- trading-related costs   -473,581 -361,688

Costs of material used   -61,528 -51,207

In 2014, costs of goods sold refer to the cost of purchased electricity, whereof EUR 32,701,628 
of electricity was purchased from Group companies (2013: EUR 46,699,827) and EUR 
13,898,633 from the controlling company Kelag (2013: EUR 19,711,993).

Costs by function

   2014 2013

Costs of goods sold  -149,596,420 -164,970,993

Selling expenses   -1,440,040 -1,196,037

General and administrative expenses  -1,072,095 -834,349

Total costs by function  -152,108,555 -167,001,379

Costs of goods sold include the purchase of electricity and costs of capacities, whereas tra-
ding-related costs are included in selling expenses.

2.5.18 Costs of material

  
  2014 2013

Costs of material  -61,528 -51,207

Costs of office stationary  -24,386 -4,604

Costs of professional literature  -2,857 -1,895

Other costs of material  -34,285 -44,708

2.5.19 Costs of services

   2014 2013

Total costs of services  -773,160 -594,291

Professional and personal services  -136,001 -81,844

Reimbursements of work-related costs to employees  -75,296 -65,063

Rentals  -177,078 -122,405

Costs of other services   -384,785 -324,979

In 2014, costs relating to auditors amounted to EUR 14,100 (2013: EUR 16,538) and include 
the audit of the annual report and the consolidated financial statements.

   2014 2013

Rent of business premises  -89,242 -81,083

Car parking rent   -8,962 -9,477

Apartment rent   -6,900 -6,600

Car rental   -27,338 -25,245

Computer software and equipment rental  -44,636 0

Total rental  -177,078 -122,405

The item of operating lease includes the lease of business premises together with parking 
spaces, an apartment and four cars. All leases disclosed by the Company are cancellable.
 

in EUR
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2.5.20 Employee benefits expense

  2014 2013

Employee benefits expense  -1,389,958 -1,170,110

Wages and salaries  -1,114,310 -925,715

Pension insurance costs  -128,067 -116,205

Other social security costs  -82,558 -64,334

Other employee benefits expense  -65,023 -63,856

As at 31 December 2014, the Company recorded 21 full-time employees. Given the working 
hours in 2014, the average number of staff was 20 (2013: 19). The Company has not formed 
provisions for retirement benefits and jubilee premiums, as the amount is insignificant with 
respect to the number and age of employees. 

Staff structure in terms of education is provided in the table below.

EDUCATIONAL STRUCTURE No. of leavers/ No. of Share 
 employees new hires employees
 at 1 Jan 2014  at 31 Dec 2014 

Secondary school education 1  1 4.76%

College education 5 2 7 33.34%

University education 11 -1/+1 11 52.4%

Master’s Degree 2  2 9.5%

TOTAL  19  21 100%

Earnings of individual groups of persons

  2014 2013

Total amount of earnings recorded by individual   675,242 629,874

groups of persons

Members of the management and holder of procuration  261,137 265,007

Other employees under individual contracts  414,105 364,867 

2.5.21 Write-downs in value

  2014 2013

Write-downs in value   -237,407 -212,915

Revaluation operating expenses associated  -3,866 -20,256

with current operating assets

Amortisation of intangible assets   -39,711 -21,994

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   -193,830 -170,666

Company’s revaluation operating expenses refer to allowances made for receivables (2014: 
EUR 3,866; 2013: EUR 20,256).

2.5.22 Other operating expenses

  2014 2013

Other operating expenses  -50,082 -30,314

Donations   -2,111 -6,547

Membership fees  -1,838 -1,907

Damages   0 -8,187

Other costs  -46,133 -13,673 

2.5.23 Finance income

  2014 2013

Finance income  1,654,092 1,057,404

Income from shares and interests in Group companies  265,967 150,752

Income on loans to Group companies   1,383,713 904,028

Income on trade receivables due from others  4,412 2,625

Finance income on profit shares refers to profit shares received from Interenergo d.o.o. Sara-
jevo in the amount of EUR 231,160 (2013: EUR 150,752) and to the elimination of impairment 
of PLC Interenergo d.o.o. Beograd in the amount of EUR 34,807. Finance income on loans 
refers to interest on loans granted to Group companies. 

2.5.24 Finance costs

  2014 2013

Finance costs   -7,548,542 -3,819,971

Costs of impairment and write-off of financial assets  -6,712,601 -2,986,812

Costs of borrowings from the parent company  -827,207 -780,483

Costs of bank borrowings   -8,734 -51,947

Exchange differences  0 -729

Finance costs of impairment and write-off of financial assets relates to the impairment of 
investments made in subsidiaries EHE d.o.o. Banja Luka, IEP Energija d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf – 
Uskoplje and in Inter-Energo d.o.o. Gornji Vakuf – Uskoplje. Costs arising under financial 
liabilities include interest expenses on loans from the controlling company KI-KELAG (2014: 
EUR 827,207 EUR; 2013: EUR 780,483) and to the interest on negative bank balances (2014: 
EUR 8,734 EUR; 2013: EUR 51,947).
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2.5.25 Income tax expense

   2014 2013

Current tax   177,058 10,643

Deferred tax  -627,201 -161,499

Total income tax   -450,143 -150,856

Loss before tax   -5,519,104 -2,353,331

Tax accounted at the rate of 17%  0 0

Tax on tax incentives   6,329 0

Tax on income that lower the taxable base  45,214 0

Tax on income that increase the taxable base  -584,764 -62,799

Impact of changed tax rate on deferred taxes  0 -8,812

Impact of tax loss on deferred taxes  0 -87,291

Impact of unused incentives relating to deferred taxes  58,541 -2,597

Other  24,537 10,643

Total income tax expense  -450,143 -150,855

Effective tax rate  8.16% 6.41%

2.6 Financial instruments and risk exposure

Credit risk 
In relation to its partners, the Interenergo Group pursues an active credit risk management 
and financial exposure management, which is founded on a consistent implementation of 
internal rules that are adopted by the Kelag Group. The latter comprise well-defined proce-
dures for identifying credit risks and assessing the exposure, for determining the limits of 
exposure and procedures for the ongoing monitoring of Company’s exposure in view of 
individual business partners. 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Loans granted  16,746,169 18,296,999

Anticipated interest for loans granted  1,422,931 906,651

Investments  11,830,870 10,297,070

Receivables exclusive of receivables due  16,130,490 597,058
from state and advances given

– whereof trade receivables (including subsidiaries)  16,130,490 597,058

Cash and cash equivalents  3,705,832 429,504

Total   49,836,292 30,527,282

  

The items of loans and receivables account for the largest share among financial assets 
exposed to credit risk.

4% (2013: 2%) of trade receivables referring to non-Group entities was secured in 2014. 

Loans by maturity as at 31 December 2014
    

in EUR Gross  Allowance   Gross  Allowance
 value 31 Dec value 31 Dec

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
 2014  2013

Not past due 16,494,490 24,000 17,138,658 20,658

Past due up to 20 days 0 0 0 0

Past due from 21 to 50 days 0 0 0 0

Past due from 51 to 180 days 0 0 0 0

Past due over 180 days 0 0 0 0

Total  16,494,490 24,000 17,138,658 20,658

   
 
Receivables by maturity as at 31 December 2014 exclusive of receivables due from 
state and advances given 
   

in EUR Gross  Allowance   Gross  Allowance
 value 31 Dec value 31 Dec

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
 2014  2013

Not past due 13,759,886  1,012,009 0

Past due up to 20 days 712,711  0 0

Past due from 21 to 50 days 1,495,706  0 0

Past due from 51 to 180 days 96,347  0 0

Past due over 180 days 484,656 418,817 414,951 414,951

Total  16,549,307 418,817 1,426,960 414,951

    

Movements in allowances for loans granted
 

  2014 2013

Balance at 1 January  20,658 658

Formation of allowances  4,000 20,000

Balance at 31 Dec  24,658 20,658

  

Movements of allowances for receivables 
  

  2014 2013

Balance at 1 January  414,951 1,559,204

Formation of allowances  3,866 0

Write-off of impaired receivables  0 1,144,253

Balance at 31 December  418,817 414,951

In 2013, receivables due from Elektroprodaja were finally written off after they were earlier 
impaired as this company completed its bankruptcy proceedings.
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Liquidity risk
The Company is engaged in wholesale of electricity, hence the number of customers and 
suppliers is low. Accordingly, the exposure to liquidity risk is well managed and efficiently as-
sessed. The exposure limit is defined for each business partner on the basis of its credit rating, 
which is monitored by competent departments on a regular and ongoing basis. The current 
market exposure and the payment obligations of business partners are monitored as well. 

Financial liabilities and their maturity
Tables below show Company’s financial liabilities by maturity.

Company’s liabilities by maturity as at 31 December 2014:

Sensitivity analysis for the fair value of financial instruments

Non-current loans granted
      

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current borrowings  16,470,490 17,118,000

– whereof short-term portion  0 0

Average balance of non-current borrowings  16,794,245 7,809,000

Interest   1,383,713 904,028

Effective cost of non-current borrowings (financial year)  4.2%-7.305% 5%

Structure of non-current borrowings by currency    

– EUR  16,470,490 17,118,000

Structure of non-current borrowings by interest rate    

– variable interest rate   0

– fixed interest rate  16,470,490 17,118,000

   

Non-current borrowings
  

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Non-current borrowings  19,964,000 15,950,000

– whereof short-term portion  0 0

Average balance of non-current borrowings  17,957,000 14,875,000

interest  827,207 779,950

Average effective cost of non-current borrowings (financial year)  4.61% 5.2%

Structure of non-current borrowings by currency  

– EUR  19,964,000 15,950,000

Structure of non-current borrowings by interest rate  

– variable interest rate  0

– fixed interest rate  19,964,000 15,950,000

 
 

in EURk Carrying Total Past due Past due Past due Past due
 amount  from 0 to 6 from 6 to 12 from 1 to 5 over 5
   months months years years

Non-current borrowings  19,964 35,790 0 989 3,956 30,845
and anticipated interest 

Other current borrowings and 0 0 0 0 0 0
anticipated interest

Payables to suppliers 13,752 13,752 13,752 0 0 0

Company’s liabilities by maturity as at 31 December 2013:

in EURk Carrying Total Past due Past due Past due Past due
 amount  from 0 to 6 from 6 to 12 from 1 to 5 over 5
   months months years years

Non-current borrowings 15,950 29,385 0 790 3,160 25,435
and anticipated interest

Other current borrowings 1,700 1,708 1,708 0 0 0
and anticipated interest

Payables to suppliers 5,674 5,674 5,674 0 0 0

Interest rate risk 
The Company discloses liabilities under a non-current borrowing bearing a fixed interest rate. 
Changes in reference interest rate fluctuations have no impact on Group’s costs of financing.

Exposure to interest rate risk

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Financial instruments at fixed interest rate  

Loans granted  16,470,490 17,118,000

Borrowings   19,964,000 17,270,708

Deposits granted   1,877,131 171,384

in EUR
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Current borrowings 
  

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Current borrowings including the short-term portion  0 1,320,708
of non-current borrowings

– borrowings from banks  0 1,320,708

Current borrowings exclusive of short-term portion  0 1,320,708
of non-current borrowings

Interest   8,323 11,898

Structure of non-current borrowings by currency  

– EUR  0 1,320,708

Structure of non-current borrowings by interest rate  

– variable interest rate  0 0

– fixed interest rate  0 1,320,708

  

Fair value 
Fair values classified as follows:
> Level 1 – assets at market price;
> Level 2 – assets not classified as Level 1, whereas their value is defined directly or indirectly 

on the basis of comparable market data;
> Level 3 – assets whose value does not base on the active market data.

2.7 Related party transactions

The tables below outline the sales and purchases with related companies, which include 
transactions with the controlling companies KI-KELAG and Kelag. Sales are divided into sale 
of electricity, services rendered that comprise engineering services and trading services, as 
well as financial transactions that encompass interest accounted and dividends received. 
Purchases include the purchase of electricity, other expenses and interest on the borrowing 
from the controlling company KI-KELAG.

Fair value hierarchy
     
    

   31 Dec 2014   31 Dec 2013

 Level 1 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 3 Total

   

Assets measured at fair value           

Cash and cash equivalents 3,705,832  3,705,832 429,504 0 429,504

 

Assets measured at fair value 

and disclosed          

Investments in subsidiaries 11,830,870 11,830,870 0 10,297,070  10,297,070 
and associates

Non-current loans granted  16,470,490 16,470,490 0 17,118,000 17,118,000 

Current loans granted and 275,678 275,678 0 1,178,999  1,178,999 
interest receivables

Operating receivables 16,130,490 16,130,490 0 908,206 908,206 

Liabilities measured at fair value  

and disclosed        

Borrowings and interest  19,964,000 19,964,000 0 17,650,658 17,650,658 

Trade payables  13,751,952 13,751,952 0 6,603,988 6,603,988 

  

SALES      

 Related entity 2014 2013  

Sale of electricity KELAG 6,639,420 21,567,775 

 INTERENERGO ZAGREB 11,928,060 13,222,011 

 PLC INTERENERGO 3,057,273 3,411,226

Total  21,624,753 38,201,012 

 

Services rendered EHE BANJA LUKA 162,808 214,695 

  IEP ENERGIJA 11,545 25,627 

  LSB ELEKTRANE 75,573 70,706 

  INTER ENERGO GORNJI VAKUF 39,070 70,430 

  HIDROWATT 3,065 15,148 

 KELAG 142,675 215,899 

 EKO TOPLOTAENERGETIKA 8,349 5,514 

  INTERENERGO ZAGREB 138,594 173,549 

  PLC INTERENERGO  224,685 173,549 

 INTERENERGO SARAJEVO 138,594 173,549 

  INTERENERGO MAKEDONIJA 128,132 0 

Total  1,073,090 1,138,666 

 

Interest on loans granted EHE BANJA LUKA 984,427 606,054 

  INTERENERGO SARAJEVO 231,661 153,263 

  INTERENERGO MAKEDONIJA 17,488 4,697 

 INTERENERGO ZAGREB 12,539 17,717 

 LSB ELEKTRANE 48,797 26,400 

 INTERHEM 1,099 1,653 

 INTER ENERGO GORNJI VAKUF 318,576 244,867 

 INTERENERGO SARAJEVO 231,160 150,752 

Total finance income   1,845,747 1,205,403 

 

Total   24,543,589 40,545,081 

 

Services rendered were charged to subsidiaries, to the sister company Eko toplota energetika, 
and to the controlling company Kelag.

Fair values of assets and liabilities equal their carrying amounts.

in EUR

 in EUR
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PURCHASES

 Related entity 2014 2013

Purchase of electricity KELAG 13,898,633 19,711,993

Purchase of electricity  INTERENERGO ZAGREB 16,129,714 30,464,100

Purchase of electricity  PLC INTERENERGO 16,571,914 16,235,727

Total purchase of electricity  46,600,261 66,411,820

Other expenses KELAG 86,801 16,681

Other expenses KI-KELAG   79,432 48,144

Total other expenses  166,233 64,825

Interest on borrowings received KI-KELAG 827,207 779,950

Total    47,593,701 67,256,595

BALANCE OF RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES

 Related entity 2014 2013

Long-term loans granted EHE BANJA LUKA 12,016,490 11,185,000

Long-term loans granted LSB ELEKTRANE 1,129,000 542,000

Long-term loans granted INTERENERGO ELECTRIC 8,000,00 4,000,00

Long-term loans granted INTER ENERGO GORNJI VAKUF 2,440,000 4,940,000

Long-term loans granted INTERENERGO SARAJEVO 260,000 0

Long-term loans granted INTERENERGO ZAGREB 250,000 350,000

Long-term loans granted INTERENERGO MAKEDONIJA 367,000 97,000

Total long-term loans granted   16,470,490 17,118,000

Current interest receivables EHE BANJA LUKA 22,700 878,554

Current interest receivables LSB ELEKTRANE 42,001 35,573

Current interest receivables INTERENERGO ELECTRIC 237 129

Current interest receivables INTER ENERGO GORNJI VAKUF 175,827 248,201

Current interest receivables INTERENERGO SARAJEVO 501 0

Current interest receivables INTERENERGO ZAGREB 5,604 5,222

Current interest receivables INTERENERGO MAKEDONIJA 28,809 11,321

Total current interest receivables   275,679 1,179,000

Other expenses refer to transactions with the controlling companies Kelag and KI-KELAG.

2.8 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities recorded by the Company refer to bank and corporate guarantees issued 
to partners for the purpose of electricity trading and institutions in charge of the electricity 
market in the required amount of insurance.
Bank guarantees amounted to EUR 6,813,759 as at 31 December 2014, whereas the corporate 
guarantees to EUR 1,500,000.

2.9 Events after the reporting date

No events or transactions have occurred after 31 December 2014, which would have an 
impact on the financial statements for 2014.

Managing Director: Managing Director:
Christian Schwarz  Anton Papež

Ljubljana, 4 June 2015

in EUR

in EUR
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3 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT THE POWER OF MANAGEMENT

We can only manage ourselves. 
An Aikido warrior does not jump against 
the opponent, the same as a mature and 
successful company does not jump against 
a competitor. A smart company only invests 
in self-management.  The one that can 
manage itself can maintain balance with 
the competition and create benefits 
for its users.
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